The Ecology of Almonds and Birds: A Review of Birds as Occupants, Pest, Natural enemies, and Potential Pathogen Vectors in Almond Orchards of Mediterranean Climates

Project Leader: Khara Strum Conservation Project Manager Audubon California 400 Capitol Mall, Suite 1535 Sacramento, CA 95814 530.219.7207 kstrum@audubon.org

Project Cooperators and Personnel:

Sacha K. Heath, Graduate Group in Ecology, UC Davis

Objectives: REFER TO LITERATURE REVIEW FOLLOWING THIS COVER PAGE

The ecology of almonds and birds: a review of birds as occupants, pests, natural enemies, and potential pathogen vectors in almond orchards of Mediterranean climates

A report to the

Almond Board of California 1150 9th St. #1500 Modesto, CA 95354

Prepared by

Sacha K. Heath Graduate Group in Ecology University of California, Davis Davis, California skheath@ucdavis.edu

> Khara M. Strum Audubon California Sacramento, California kstrum@audubon.org

> > 20 October, 2016

Executive Summary

Birds occupy almond orchards in Mediterranean almond production regions globally. Because birds consume both marketable nuts and other pests that damage nuts, they are considered both a major almond production pest and a potential agent of almond pest control. The sustainable co-management of wild birds and almond production by almond stakeholders is necessary for both biodiversity conservation and the economical production of almonds. To inform future research on and implementation of comanagement strategies in almonds, we deemed it necessary to review and synthesize the scientific literature on the ecology of birds and almonds. Our extensive review encompassed almond growing regions of Mediterranean climates worldwide and we explored four major topics: Almond orchards as bird habitat; birds as pests and natural enemies of pests in almonds; birds and food safety in almonds with a focus on pathogenic *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli*; and the potential role of almond orchards in avian conservation. We also propose three research studies designed to address information gaps identified in the review, with a focus on almonds in California's Central Valley. The review provided several major insights on each of these topics:

- Almonds throughout the Mediterranean climate regions of the world are used by birds during all seasons; they provide resources for nesting, roosting, perching, and cover from weather and predators, are utilized during short and long distance migrations and dispersal, and contribute to avian diets.
- The most recent modeled estimate of almond yield loss attributed to birds in California is less than 2.6% on average. With few exceptions, data on bird damage to almonds tends to lack temporal, spatial, and species resolution necessary for robust damage estimates. More field research effort is needed to collect and report data on pest bird identification, behavior, and occupancy in almonds. Evidence based recommendations derived from these data can assist producers in assessing tradeoffs between minimizing crop damage and supporting biodiversity.
- A few detailed field studies in almond orchards of California, Australia, and Israel have quantified both bird damage to almonds and reduction of mummy nuts by birds. In one Australian example, these data provided estimates to assess the monetary costs and benefits of almond damage and mummy nut removal by birds. It was determined that birds provided a net benefit to growers in the year examined. Future research on pest control by birds in almonds should be expanded beyond mummy nut removal, and studies should aim to collect the type of data needed to determine net monetary outcomes of avian services and disservices to growers.

- Birds are theoretically ideal mediators of crop contamination and pathogen transmission, yet at present direct evidence for birds as vectors of *Salmonella* or *E. coli* into any agricultural crop remains scant, with only a few cases providing a genetic link between a pathogenic strain isolated from a bird and a contaminated agricultural food commodity. Overall, prevalence of pathogenic *Salmonella* or *E. coli* in agricultural birds appears to be low, but more data on bird behavior and connectivity with contamination sources is needed before risk of avian contributions to outbreaks can be adequately assessed. We were unable to locate any data that specifically addressed wild bird transmission of pathogens in almonds or other nut tree crops.
- Given that birds use almond orchards as habitat, it is important to consider the potential costs and benefits to avian survival and reproduction in these landscapes. We highlight and discuss potential costs and benefits of almond production to birds. More avian ecology studies in almond orchards are needed to fully calculate the net cost or benefit of orchard use for birds. Co-management strategies among almond stakeholders are recommended.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Survey of the literature
3.	Almonds as bird habitat
	3.1
	Almond trees, orchards, and landscapes as year round resources for birds
4.	Birds as pests and natural enemies of pests in almonds
	4.1.
	Bird damage to almond crops8
	4.2
	Perception of almond damage by birds and control method choices10
	4.3
	Birds as natural enemies of insect and vertebrate pests in almonds13
5.	Birds and food safety in almonds16
	5.1
	Background on <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> risk in almonds16
	5.2
	Wild birds as vectors of pathogenic Salmonella and Escherichia coli in almonds18
	5.3
	Effectiveness of practices aimed at preventing, controlling, and treating avian
	vectored pathogens in almonds
6.	The role of almond orchards in avian conservation26
	6.1
	The potential costs: almond orchards as ecological traps for birds
	6.2
	The potential beneficial contributions of almonds to avian conservation30
	6.3
	Audubon Important Bird Areas in California's Central Valley almond
	growing region
7.	Study design in almonds
	7.1
	Patterns of bird use in almond orchards of California's Central Valley
	7.2.
	The economic and ecological costs and benefits of almond damage by birds34
	(disservice) and pest reduction by birds (service) to almond growers in California's
	Central Valley
	7.3. A quantitative assessment of enteropathogenic outbreak risk associated with37
	avian occupancy of almond orchards and human almond consumption in
	California's Central Valley

8. Literature Cited38

Appendix I. Glossary of terms italicized in text	56
Appendix II. Scientific names for species in tables with only common names provided	57
due to space limitations and which were not previously defined in the text.	

1. Introduction

Thirty-seven percent of Earth's terrestrial surface has been converted to agriculture, comprising permanent crops (1%, e.g., orchards and vineyards), temporary crops (3%, e.g., wheat), temporary meadows, pastures, and fallow lands (8%, e.g., cultivated livestock forage < 5 y), and permanent meadows and pastures (25%, i.e., cultivated or wild grown livestock forage > 5 y; FAOSTAT 2016). The result has been habitat loss, associated species abundance declines, extinctions (Vitousek 1997, Chapin et al. 2000, Gaston et al. 2003, Foley et al. 2005), and the emergence of *novel ecosystems* in which new assemblages of species persist and interact (Hobbs et al. 2006, 2009). Global food demand is forecast to increase 100-110% by 2050 (Tilman et al. 2011). Land conversion to agriculture and introductions of new organisms to ecosystems (i.e., *biotic exchange*) are projected to be the greatest drivers of change in biodiversity in Mediterranean ecosystems are expected to experience the greatest change in biodiversity compared to all other global biomes (Sala et al. 2000).

Estimated decreases in bird numbers in Mediterranean land types worldwide between preagricultural and present time is -50% in grasslands, -48% in savanna, and -67% in temperate deciduous forests (including riparian forests; Gaston et al. 2003). Contemporary bird numbers in global croplands are estimated broadly at 1-7 billion birds (Gaston et al. 2003), and nearly a third of all bird species occupy agricultural lands during at least some portion of their lifetime (Sekercioğlu et al. 2007). Croplands can provide vital resources for birds during all periods of their annual cycle, including during breeding (Rodenhouse et al. 1992, Vickery et al. 2004, Swolgaard et al. 2008, Amano 2009), bi-annual migration (Farina 1989, Estrada and Coates-Estrada 2005), and over-wintering periods (Johnson et al. 2006, Palacín et al. 2012, Strum et al. 2013, Kross et al. 2016b). At least 215 neotropical migrant bird species utilize temporary croplands in North America (Rodenhouse et al. 1992).

If quality resources in agricultural lands supplement those found in remnant natural habitats, or if agricultural lands offer better than available alternatives in severely modified landscapes, then sustainable management of them is necessary for biodiversity conservation (Koh and Gardner 2010). Evidence of bird population declines in grassland and shrubland species of temperate agricultural regions (Donald et al. 2001, Newton 2004, Mineau and Whiteside 2013), however, implies that agriculture and conservation stakeholders need to collectively address an immediate problem. In temperate agricultural lands, the ecology and status of birds utilizing grain crops has received the greatest amount of attention (e.g., Rodenhouse et al. 1992, Warner and Warner 1994, Fuller et al. 1995), while the ecology of birds utilizing orchard systems is less studied.

An economically important orchard crop in Mediterranean climate regions is the almond (*Prunus dulcis*). Though the tree crop occupies less than 0.05% of global land area (FAOSTAT 2013), it increasingly occupies greater percentages of landscapes regionally (e.g., approximately 11% of California's Central Valley region; CDFA 2015). In 2014, 77% of the world's almonds were grown in the United States (U.S.), followed by Australia (6%), Spain (4%), Iran (3%) and several other countries (INC 2015), and almonds were the highest valued crop in the U.S. (CDFA 2015). 99% of U.S. almonds are grown in California's Central Valley (CDFA 2015), where orchard area has increased by 129% over the last decade, totaling 449,201 ha (1.11 million ac) in 2015 (CDFA 2016b). In the 2014-2015 growing season, almonds were California's top exported food commodity (CDFA 2016), and global consumption of almonds is rising at a faster rate than production (USDA FAS 2015), suggesting that the trends are likely to continue.

Encompassing approximately 4 million ha, the Central Valley of California is a region of intensive agricultural development and the conversion of natural lands to farmlands has been extensive. Upland alluvial plains occupied by oak woodland savannahs, grasslands, and forblands provided fertile soils for farming and were mostly converted to croplands (Thompson 1961, Shapiro 1974, Holstein 1984, Holstein 2001). Riparian woodlands were cut for firewood or timber, and floodplains were levied, cleared, and farmed to such an extent, that by the 1980's an estimated 11% of the original riparian forest acreage remained (Thompson 1961, Katibah 1984).

The Central Valley remains a year round home and a major destination along the pacific flyway for multiple species during all seasons (Cortopassi and Mewaldt 1965, Humple and Geupel 2002, Gardali et al. 2006, Pandolfino et al. 2011, Latta et al. 2012, Dybala et al. 2015), and an important conservation region for several California Bird Species of Special Concern (Shuford and Gardali 2008). Because the land and water resources contributed to almond production are great, the reliance of birds on the region is apparent, and because of the costs and benefits that bird utilization of almond orchards might engender both producers and birds, we deemed it necessary to review and synthesize the scientific literature on the ecology of birds and almonds.

Our review encompasses almond growing regions of Mediterranean climates worldwide (Figure 1). In particular, we explore four main topics: Almond orchards as bird habitat; birds as pests and natural enemies of pests in almonds; birds and food safety in almonds with a focus on pathogenic *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli*; and the potential role of almond orchards in avian conservation. We conclude by proposing three research studies designed to address information gaps identified in the review, with a focus on almond orchards in California's Central Valley.



Figure 1. Global cultivated almond (*Prunus dulcis*) distribution and production, contemporary distribution of wild almond (*P.* subg. *Amygdalus* sect. *Amygdalus*), and approximate North and South latitudinal brackets in which Mediterranean climates reside on western sides of continents. Base map with almond production pixels modified from Monfreda et al. (2008), wild almond distribution drawn from (Browicz and Zohary 1996).

2. Survey of the Literature

To search the literature pertaining to the four primary topics of this review, we used the CAB Abstracts and Agricola [via Ovid], BIOSIS Previews [via Web of Science], Environmental Sciences & Pollution Management [via ProQuest], and Google Scholar databases. We searched titles, abstracts, main body, and keywords with various combinations of search terms listed in Table 1. We reduced the number of citations to review by only retaining those written in English and Spanish and to those available via the University of California library system, inter library loan, or reprint requests, and by excluding literature pertaining only to poultry or domestic birds.

Table 1. Primary topic and search terms for literature search.

Primary topic	Search terms ¹
Almond orchards as bird habitat	(bird* OR avian*) AND (almond*, OR 'Prunus dulcis*' OR 'Prunus amygdalus*' OR 'nut crop*' OR nut* OR orchard*)
Birds as pests and natural enemies of pests in almonds	AND ² (pest* OR 'pest control*' OR 'natural enemies*' OR biocontrol* OR predation* OR damage*)
Birds and food safety in almonds	AND² (Salmonella* OR 'E. coli*' OR 'Escherichia coli*' OR vector*) NOT (poultry* OR 'chicken*')
The potential role of almond orchards in avian conservation	AND ² conservation [*] , 'habitat quality [*] ', ecology [*] , 'ecological trap [*] ', 'ecosystem service [*] ' agriculture [*] , 'working lands [*] ', 'land sharing [*] ', 'land sparing [*] ', agro-environment [*] , agroecology [*] , pesticide

² Combined with terms listed in first row

3. Almond orchards as bird habitat

A formal definition of the term *habitat* is "the resources and conditions present in an area that [support] occupancy—including survival and reproduction—by a given organism" (Hall et al. 1997). Cultivated almond orchards throughout the Mediterranean climate regions of the world are occupied by birds during all seasons. Almond orchards and individual trees provide structural resources for nesting, roosting, perching, and cover from weather and predators, are utilized during short and long distance migrations and dispersal, and contribute to avian diets. There are approximately 30 research studies that have directly or indirectly examined avian occupancy and habitat use in almonds in their wild, cultivated, and abandoned state.

3.1. Almond trees, orchards, and landscapes as year round resources for birds

Non-cultivated wild almonds (*Prunus* subg. *Amygdalus* sect. *Amygdalus*) are distributed throughout the Irano-Turanian floristic region (Figure 1; Browicz and Zohary 1996, Yazbek and Oh 2013, Delplancke et al. 2016), with most of the 26 species found in Iran and eastern Turkey (Yazbek and Oh 2013). Patterns in bird occupancy of wild almond habitat can contribute some insight into the types of bird genera we might expect to find in cultivated almond, and the characteristics of almonds which birds might select for or against (i.e., *habitat selection*). The spatial configuration of cultivated almonds (i.e., rowed monoculture), is different to that of wild almonds (i.e., non-uniform structural and species heterogeneity). Nonetheless the branching structure, wood hardness, and flowers and buds of *P. dulcis* are similar to those of the four wild species with ranges that overlap the studies discussed here, and more so for three of these that achieve tree form (Browicz and Zohary 1996).

An ornithological expedition into the montane regions of southern Iran noted several breeding bird species associated with wild almond trees or scrub in what was termed the 'Pistachio-Almond zone'; these included shrikes (*Lanius*), warblers (*Sylvia*), wheatears (*Oenanthe*), robin (*Irania*), sparrows (*Petronia*), and goldfinches (*Carduelis*; Desfayes and Praz 1978). In a woodland oasis of the semi-arid region of central Iran, mountain almond (*P. arabica scoparia*), pistachio (*Pistachia atlantica*), and Montpellier maple (*Acer cinerascens*) were available nest tree species for the Syrian Woodpecker (*Dendrocopos syriacus*), yet only pistachio trees were selected for nest hole construction (Aghanajafizadeh et al. 2011). Compared to almond and maple, pistachio offered softer wood and more resin; the former was potentially more attractive to a hole-drilling species and the latter was hypothesized to attract more insect food items for the woodpecker. This selection strategy could have implications for cultivated landscapes in which both almond and pistachio orchards are grown within proximity and are available to woodpeckers (*Picidae*).

Cultivated almond orchards are distributed across Mediterranean climatic regions of the globe, and less so in other climates (Figure 1). In the agricultural region of south-east Australia, year round bird species richness was compared between almond orchards, apple orchards, vineyards, and eucalypt wood lots and was found to be highest in almonds and eucalypt (Luck et al. 2015). Additionally, bird *species diversity* and the *richness* of *functional traits* associated with foraging (i.e., foraging behavior, foraging location, foraging substrate, and diet) were both highest in almonds. Luck et al. (2015) suggested that the high functional richness value in almond orchards reflected the diversity of avian diet types observed there, including nectarivores (nectar consumers), granivores (seed consumers), omnivores (generalist consumers), and tree and ground foraging insectivores (invertebrate consumers). Finally, in 2 out of 3 comparisons to native Australian woodland types, the cumulative number of spring and summer bird species detected was highest in almond orchards (Luck et al. 2014). For wintering bird communities utilizing the agricultural/semi-natural landscapes of Cyprus, birds of nearly all foraging substrate types were more abundant along transects characterized by higher percentages of almond and other fruit tree cover (Ieronymidou 2012); this was also the case for summer abundances of birds that foraged high in closed-canopies and low among the herbaceous layer. Species richness of steppe-foraging birds was lower among these same almond and fruit dominated transects. In Israeli almond orchards, Schäckermann et al. (2015a) found that bird communities were more species rich at orchard edges than orchard interiors, but were similarly abundant and species rich among orchards of different age or area.

Several bird genera utilize almond orchards for nesting sites. In an agricultural region of southern Spain, crows (*Corvus*) predominantly nested in scattered holm oaks (*Auercus rotundifolia*) and almond orchard trees, and magpies (*Pica*) preferentially selected almond

orchards for high density nesting and were the predominant European hosts of the nest parasite the Great Spotted Cuckoo (*Clamator glandarius*; Soler 1990, Martinez et al. 1996). Upon leaving the nest, groups of fledgling cuckoos attended by a few adult magpies preferentially selected areas with higher almond tree densities $(2.2 \pm 0.7 \text{ trees} \cdot 10\text{m}^{-2} \text{ in}$ occupied areas versus $0.8 \pm 0.7 \text{ trees} \cdot 10\text{m}^{-2}$ in unoccupied areas), presumably because higher tree densities provided more substantial cover for vulnerable young at greater risk of predation (Soler et al. 1995). Shrikes occasionally nested in almond trees of northern Spain orchards (Campos et al. 2011), and Red-shafted Flickers (*Colaptes auratus cafer*) nested in California almond orchards for two consecutive years (Emlen 1937).

Landscape scale effects on avian community patterns and life histories in and around almond orchards are geographically variable and likely reflect regional differences in avian traits, and in the type and configuration of natural vegetation communities, crops, and other land uses. For example, in southern Spain, although groups of cuckoo fledglings and magpie adults demonstrated local scale preferences for higher versus lower densities of almond trees within orchards, at the landscape scale they did not discern between landscapes with high or low percentages of almond cultivation (Soler et al. 1995). In contrast, shrikes in the cereal-crop dominated agroecosystems of northern Spain mostly selected native shrub vegetation and sometimes cultivated grape (Vitus vinifera) for nesting sites, but clutch and brood size were positively correlated with the percent cover of almond and olive orchards within a 1 km radius around the nest site (Campos et al. 2006). Neither bird abundance nor species richness in Israeli almond orchards were influenced by the percentage of natural habitat (mostly shrublands) within 1 km of orchards, but the number of bird species did increase as the amount of semi-natural habitat (planted pine forest and some broadleaf trees) increased (Schäckermann et al. 2015a). In the almond growing region of Australia, Regent Parrots (*Polytelis anthopeplus*) preferred almond orchards that bordered native vegetation in some years, and several species of small parrots (genera *Platycercus, Psephotus*) were more likely to occur in almond orchards close to riparian vegetation and away from farm buildings (Luck et al. 2013).

Resources provided by almond orchards are utilized during long-distance migrations of birds with geographically distinct wintering and breeding areas, during short-distance migrations (i.e., up to 250 km) of year round residents, and as corridors for daily short-distance movement. Indirect evidence of almond use during a long-distance migration was presented by Laursen et al. (1997) who found *Prunus* pollen horns attached to individuals of 5 species of spring migrant warbler (*Sylviidae*) captured in Denmark. They suggested that birds used almond orchards as stopovers during migration and consumed flower nectar on their way to breeding areas in Denmark. Direct evidence of birds using almonds as long-distance migration, 85.3% of shrike hunting attempts were made from > 0.8 m

vegetation perches with strikes toward prey on the ground, and 8.3% of these attack perches were almond trees (Apageorgiou et al. 2016). In Spain, Great Bustard (*Otis tarda*) males made short-distance post-mating migrations to summering areas with lower temperatures, lower human population densities, more rainfall, and landscapes with higher percent cover of oak pastures and almond orchards than found on the mating grounds (Alonso et al. 2009). Once there, birds preferentially selected sunflower fields and almond orchards, which provided shade from midday heat and cover from predators. In Australia, the preferred breeding and foraging/roosting areas of the threatened Regent Parrot are restricted to distinct native vegetation types often separated by large tracts of almond orchards, grazing pastures, and row crops with a linear network of roadside native vegetation (Luck et al. 2014). A simulation model that assumed no almond use by parrots predicted that daily movements between nesting and foraging/roosting areas would be completely reliant on roadside corridors of native vegetation; when the model assumed almond orchard use by parrots (which was empirically supported), landscape connectivity between nesting and foraging/roosting sites was improved (Luck et al. 2014). These results suggest that in absence of restoring large tracts of preferred native vegetation, almond orchards could facilitate connectivity between vital resources needed by parrots.

Birds also utilize resources in abandoned almond orchards colonized by native species and in restoration sites where almond trees have been retained, a habitat selection behavior which apparently benefitted birds and the restoration process. In an agricultural and natural habitat mosaic of north east Spain, 29 of 34 bird species observed were found in abandoned almond orchards (Quesada and MacGregor-Fors 2010); 31% were insectivores, 31% omnivores, 21% granivores, 10% frugivores (consumers of fruits), and 7% carnivores. Fourteen bird species were unique to the abandoned orchards compared to newly established row crop garden allotments that in total replaced about 2.4 hectares of abandoned area, and birds predominantly used the abandoned orchards for perching. Restoration of Spanish almond orchards to native vegetation was facilitated by birds that brought seeds onto the restoration site, perched on retained almond trees, and deposited the seeds via defecation (Bonet and Pausas 2007). In California's Sacramento Valley, old almond trees were left standing in restoration sites among newly planted riparian species to provide nesting and feeding habitat for cavity nesters that would otherwise not benefit from the restoration until several years later when restored trees grew to diameters sufficient for nest hole construction (Elliott and Small 2003).

Cultivated almond nuts (botanically, the almond seed) comprise part of the diet of several bird species throughout the major almond growing regions of the world (Table 2). From the perspective of a high metabolism animal like a bird, almond orchards represent a readily available nutritious food source; with this in mind, ecologists might define almonds as *food* and the taking of nuts as *consumption*. From the perspective of many producers,

however, any bird entering an orchard can represent a yield loss and a labor and equipment expenditure and thus define consumed nuts or fleshy hulls as *damage* (see section 4). In Australia, the Regent Parrot and several species of small parrots apparently depend on almond nuts as an alternative food source during drought conditions when natural food supplies are limited (Luck et al. 2013). Woodpeckers are reported consumers of almond nuts, including *Melanerpes, Picoides*, and *Colaptes* woodpeckers in California (Gignoux 1921, Emlen 1937, Miller and Bock 1972), and *Dendrocopos* woodpeckers in Israel (Moran and Keidar 1993). *Corvidae* (ravens, crows, jays, and magpies) forage on almond nuts in California (Emlen 1937, Marsh and Salmon 1996), Israel (Moran and Keidar 1993), and Australia (Luck et al. 2013). In southern Spain, a combination of almonds and cereal grains comprised 1% of magpie nestling diet in arid habitats (no irrigation, fallow bare land, scatterings of principally young almond trees) and 14% of magpie nestling diet in irrigated habitats (extensive irrigation, cultivated fields, orchards of mature almond trees; Neve et al. 2007).

Avian consumption of almond flower nectar has been reported for the Eurasian Blue Tit (*Cyanistes caeruleus*) in England and four species of *Sylvia* and two species of *Phylloscopus* warblers in the Mediterranean region of Europe and the Middle East (Yeo 1972, Laursen et al. 1997, da Silva et al. 2014). Experimental feeding of almond pollen grains to captive birds resulted in the pollen remaining largely undigested (86% on average), leading Brice et al. (1989) to suggest that pollen did not provide a significant source of energy or protein to the study species (lorikeets (*Trichoglossus*) and cockatiels (*Nymphicus*)). In California, almond flower buds are reported food items for finches (*Haemorhous*) and sparrows (*Zonotrichia*; Marsh and Salmon 1996), as are almond flower petals for *Zonotrichia* sparrows (Heath, unpublished data).

4. Birds as pests and natural enemies of pests in almonds

4.1. Bird damage to almond crops

The literature on bird damage to almond crops inconsistently reports damages inflicted by bird species, groups, or vertebrates (typically birds and rodents combined) and often lacks the pest species resolution necessary for the development of damage thresholds and a precise balancing of tradeoffs for individual producers. Generalized pest control guidelines that refer to only 'birds' or 'mammals' or 'vertebrates' ignore important species specific behavioral, temporal, and spatial factors that can help growers minimize crop damage while also supporting biodiversity. As can be done for invertebrate pest management guidelines in almonds (UC IPM 2016), robust small-scale field study quantifications of damage can provide the species and orchard level resolution needed for more efficient and effective management (e.g., Luck et al. 2013), and meta-analyses of locally derived data can

be used to make larger scale inferences about bird damage to almond crops (e.g., Gebhardt et al. 2011).

The best large-scale estimates for avian almond consumption in California, given the available data, are those in which damage inflicted by birds and rodents were grouped together and modeled by Gebhardt et al. (2011). Because of the paucity of published empirical data on the specific vertebrate species damaging almonds, the meta-analysis relied on 52 almond crop damage estimates from 13 published and unpublished reports derived from four data types: surveys of county Agricultural Commissioners (one study), seven field studies, one combined literature review and survey study, and four expert interviews conducted by the authors. The type of animal damage reported was vertebrate (five studies), specific rodent species (one), specific bird species (five; crows), and bird group (two). For the Central Valley almond growing region of California, after controlling for crop type, year, and data type, Gebhardt et al. (2011) estimated that birds and rodents were responsible for, on average, 2.6% of almond yield loss. In other words, it is expected that birds inflict less than 2.6% damage on almonds statewide.

There are a few published examples of detailed quantifications of almond damage caused by birds. Emlen (1937) painstakingly documented behaviors of avian almond consumers in three experimental orchards in northern California. Each of the top three almond consumers (American Crow (*Corvus brachyrhynchos*), Acorn Woodpecker (*Melanerpes formicivorus*), and California Scrub-Jay (*Aphelocoma californica*)) utilized a different hull and shell opening strategy for nut consumption, leaving distinguishing marks on the hulls from which to identify the species. The most frequent feeding strategy of crows and jays was to leave empty hulls on the ground beneath the trees on which the nuts grew. Thus, to quantify the extent of pre-harvest damage to almonds by birds, Emlen collected and counted hulls every few days, noting the unique signs of hull damage (i.e., nut consumption) by specific birds. Acorn Woodpeckers typically removed the entire almond from the orchard before opening the hull and shell while perching on nearby trees; damage inflicted by them were quantified by visual observations and tallies from a blind.

Emlen (1937) found that crows visited orchards several times throughout the day between sunrise and sunset, consumed 40% of collected hulls daily, and in captivity could consume up to 30 almonds per day (Table 2). Acorn Woodpeckers removed approximately 5% of the estimated potential yield of one orchard. Hull damage inflicted by California Scrub-Jays and Red-shafted Flickers did not exceed 1% in any of the study orchards. Because all daylight hours were surveyed across the entire almond growing season, Emlen (1937) was able to document the *absence* of nut consumption by species occupying orchards as well, concluding that though Brewer's (*Euphagus cyanocephalus*), Red-winged (*Agelaius phoeniceus*), and Tricolored Blackbirds (*A. tricolor*) were frequently accused of taking almonds, he found no direct evidence of them damaging pre-harvest almonds.

Recent studies in Israeli almond orchards estimated vertebrate damage to almonds by both a modified Emlen (1937) method described above and by using netting to exclude birds and rodents separately and together (Schäckermann et al. 2015a). Birds damaged approximately 3% of pre-harvest almonds and damaged significantly fewer almonds than birds and rodents combined. There was no correlation found between granivorous bird abundance (i.e., seed and nut eaters) and the number of pre-harvest almond hulls with bird consumption marks on orchard floors (Schäckermann et al. 2015b). When rates of almond damage by birds were estimated with the exclosures, however, Schäckermann et al. (2015a) found that nut damage was positively correlated with abundance and species richness of all birds combined and with granivorous bird species in particular (species not reported). Corroborating a finding by Emlen (1937), Schäckermann et al. (2015a) found that almond trees on orchard edges suffered higher nut damage by birds than those in orchard interiors. At the landscape scale, almond damage was not strongly influenced by the percentage of natural or semi-natural habitat within 1km of orchards. These results led Schäckermann et al. (2015a) to conclude that the promotion of agri-environmental schemes that retain natural habitats would not increase avian damage in their system.

4.2. Perception of almond damage by birds and control method choices

Crop damage estimation by social surveys rely on human perception, and it appears that estimates derived from expert opinion (i.e., producers, academics, and professional wildlife damage controllers), are higher than those derived from other methods (7.7% higher; Gebhardt et al. 2011). Nonetheless, systematic surveys can provide quantifiable data and they provide insight into the perceptions of agricultural professionals (e.g., Baldwin et al. 2013, 2014) and almond producers (Dobb 2014) on almond crop damage by wildlife. Because activities of professionals and producers influence decisions that affect birds utilizing orchards, understanding the experiences behind management decisions can lead to co-developed solutions among almond stakeholders.

11.				
Bird species Location		Tree part	Empirically [e] and heuristically [h]	Citation
or group		damaged	estimated crop losses	
California Scrub-Jay	California	nut	 7.9% of crop with YBMA and AMCR [e] ½ ton per season, 1 orchard [h] 2% of daily collected hulls [e] ≤ 1% total yield in any orchard [e] 0.1-6.1% with YBMA, AMCR per acre [e] 	Marsh and Salmon (1996) Bryant (1912) Emlen (1937) Emlen (1937) Gebhardt et al. (2011)
American Crow	California	nut	 7.9% of crop with CASJ and YBMA [e] 30 nuts a day in captivity, 1 bird [e] 40% of daily collected hulls [e] \$85 million 1 season (Tulare Co.) [e] 35% of growers reported damage [h] 0.004-29.53% per acre per county [e] 0.1-6.1% with YBMA, CASJ per acre [e] 	Marsh and Salmon (1996) Emlen (1937) Emlen (1937) De Grazio (1978) Hasey and Salmon (1993) Gebhardt et al. (2011) Gebhardt et al. (2011)

Table 2. Bird species reported empirically [e] or heuristically [h] to inflict damage on almonds, location of report, damage type, estimated losses, and report citation. Scientific names for common names and 4-letter codes in Appendix II.

Yellow-billed Magpie	California	nut	 7.9% of crop with CASJ and AMCR [e] -13% of growers reported as pest [h] 0.1-6.1% with CASJ and AMCR per acre [e] 	Marsh and Salmon (1996) Hasey and Salmon (1993) Gebhardt et al. (2011)
Acorn Woodpecker	California	nut	 1-10% of crop in one drought year [e] 12% of daily collected hulls [e] 5-7% of total yield in one orchard [e] 	Bryant (1912) Emlen (1937) Emlen (1937)
Lewis's Woodpecker	California	nut	- 10% and 1% grower reported [h]	Bryant (1912)
Nuttall's Woodpecker	California	nut	- 'seen consuming' [h]	Emlen (1937)
Downy Woodpecker	California	nut	- 'seen consuming' [h]	Emlen (1937)
Red-shafted Flickers	California	nut	- 'occasional' [h] - $\leq 1\%$ total yield in any orchard [e]	Bryant (1912) Emlen (1937)
Red-breasted Sapsucker	California	nut nut trunk	 - 2% daily collected nuts [e] - 5% total yield with CASJ and ACWO [e] - reported 	Emlen (1937)
Rock Dove	California	nut	- 'rarely' [h]	Marsh and Salmon (1996)
European Starling	California	nut	- eat almonds to a 'lesser degree' [h]	Marsh and Salmon (1996)
blackbirds	California	nut	-10% of growers reported [h]	Hasey and Salmon (1993)
House Finch	California	bud	- 'observed disbudding' [h]	Emlen (1937)
White-crowned Sparrow	California	bud	- 'observed disbudding' [h]	Marsh and Salmon (1996)
birds	California Israel	Nut	 9.6% grower reported for all nut crops [h] < 5% of nut consumption [e] 	Baldwin et al. (2011) Schäckermann et al. (2015a)
Syrian Woodpecker	Israel	Fruit	- recorded damaging [h]	Moran and Keidar (1993)
Eurasian Jay	Israel	Fruit	- sporadic damage [h]	Moran and Keidar (1993)
cockatoos	Australia	nut	- 31% transects with damage, 68% = 0% [e]	Luck et al. (2013)
small parrots	Australia	nut	- 43% transects <1% damage, 19% = 0% [e]	Luck et al. (2013)
Regent Parrot	Australia	nut	- 16% transects >2% damage, 38% = 0% [e]	Luck et al. (2013)
Australian Raven	Australia	nut	 recorded feeding [e] 	Luck (2013)
Australian Ringneck	Australia	nut	 recorded feeding [e] 	Luck (2013)
Blue Bonnet	Australia	nut	 recorded feeding [e] 	Luck (2013)
Eastern Rosella	Australia	nut	 recorded feeding [e] 	Luck (2013)
Sulphur-crested Cockatoo	Australia	nut	- recorded feeding [e]	Luck (2013)
Galah	Australia	nut	 recorded feeding [e] 	Luck (2013)
Little Corella	Australia	nut	- recorded feeding [e]	Luck (2013)
Little Raven	Australia	nut	 recorded feeding [e] 	Luck (2013)
Long-billed Corella	Australia	nut	 recorded feeding [e] 	Luck (2013)
Mulga Parrot	Australia	nut	- recorded feeding [e]	Luck (2013)
Red-rumped Parrot	Australia	nut	 recorded feeding [e] 	Luck (2013)
Yellow Rosella	Australia	nut	 recorded feeding [e] 	Luck (2013)
Burrowing Parrot	Argentina	nut	- grower survey denoted damage [h]	Failla et al. (2008)

Modeled estimates derived from an almond producer survey (n = 49 producers) revealed that the per acre cost of avian almond crop damage in California was \$5.61 with and \$12.28 without control measures in place, and estimated almond yield losses were 2.14% with and 8.37% without bird control measures in place (Dobb 2014). In Sutter and Yuba counties of California, growers reported a willingness to pay, on average, \$24 per acre (range \$0-\$100) to reduce crow damage by 50% in their orchards (Hasey and Salmon 1993). One-hundred percent of almond producers responding to surveys reported using some method for avian deterrence in orchards; these included sound devices (45%), shooting (41%), visual scare devices (29%), promotion of predators (8%), land management (4%), and netting (4%;

Dobb 2014). Zero percent of reporting growers claimed to use fencing/tree guards, chemical repellents, toxicants, or trapping (Dobb 2014).

Sixty-one percent of California agriculture professionals responding to a survey (n=143) indicated their preference for an Integrated Pest Management (IPM) approach to controlling vertebrate pests (Baldwin et al. 2014); reasons given for their clientele not using IPM (n=83) included clientele preference for a single proven method (43%), the lack of any effective control methods (30%), lack of awareness of IPM (11%), and the lack of IPM cost-benefit studies (11%) or IPM effectiveness studies (5%) for vertebrates. The attributes of vertebrate control methods most important to clientele (in order of most to least important) were efficacy, quick and inexpensive, minimal hazard to applicator, environmentally safe, and humane toward pests (Baldwin et al. 2014). Explanations (n=37) for why growers chose against the most effective bird deterrence methods were cost (43%), overly restrictive or certification needed (27%), the presence of endangered species (14%), lack of knowledge of most effective method (8%), timing inconsistencies (3%), methods not allowable in organic settings (3%), and inhumane treatment of animals or environmental sensitivity (3%; Baldwin et al. 2014).

The Eastern Regent Parrot (*P. a. monarchoides*) is an endangered Australian species perceived by producers to substantially damage fruit crops, and 500 individuals were killed in 1944 by producers under permit (Condon 1947) despite evidence suggesting their impact is minor compared to several other species (Baker-Gabb and Hurley 2010). Recent empirical work in almonds (Luck et al. 2013) found that damage caused by Regent Parrots and small parrots was low and variable among the 32 transects on which damage was quantified. For example small parrots were responsible for <1% almond damage on 14 transects, and while Regent Parrots were responsible for >2% damage (6.2% max) on 5 transects, there was no damage attributed to them on 12 transects. Nonetheless, as the frequency of occurrence of small parrots and Regent Parrots increased in almond orchards, so did nut damage attributed to them (Luck et al. 2013). Regent Parrots and small parrots preferred almond orchards adjacent to native vegetation and riverine vegetation respectively, but Luck et al. (2013) hypothesized that annual variation in these relationships suggested that parrots might have relied more heavily on almonds for food when alternative food sources were limited during drought conditions.

In total, these findings led Luck et al. (2013) to propose that a strategy for managing impacts on almond yields while promoting species diversity and avian conservation could be to provide decoy crops of preferred native plants. This idea was tested for *Peromyscus* mice by Schartel and Schauber (2016), who found that if more preferred food items (sunflower seeds) were provided to mice, there existed localized refuges for less preferred food items (almonds) at intermediate distances from the sunflower seeds. If researchers provided less preferred food (corn), the risk of almond consumption close to the corn

increased (Schartel and Schauber 2016). Since traditional methods of bird deterrence, such as shooting, were not effective in deterring birds from consuming almonds during years of food scarcity, Luck et al. (2013) suggested that these types of alternative deterrence methods should be considered.

There is a substantial and applicable body of research to assist growers in determining the economic thresholds for invertebrate pest damage to their crops and relatively efficient and effective recommendations for invertebrate pest management strategies for growers (e.g., UC IPM Project 2001, Flint 2002). Conversely, there has been a lack of quantitative research on the economic threshold of bird damage (pest population level or extent of crop damage at which the value of the crop destroyed exceeds the cost of controlling the pest). Fortunately, efforts are underway to guide future research for methodological improvements in IPM strategies for vertebrates (Sterner 2008, Baldwin et al. 2014), as this appears to be a good way forward for both producers and birds.

4.3. Birds as natural enemies of insect and vertebrate pests in almonds

In agroecosystems, *natural enemies* are the predators, parasites, or pathogens that kill or reduce the numbers of crop pests (Flint et al. 1998). Invertebrates have predominantly been the natural enemy taxa encouraged or released in biocontrol efforts (Huffaker et al. 1971, Letourneau et al. 2009), but there is a growing body of evidence that birds can also provide invertebrate and vertebrate pest reduction services (Kirk et al. 1996, Whelan et al. 2008, Mäntylä et al. 2011, Wenny et al. 2011, Whelan et al. 2015). Many bird species are opportunistic foragers and can respond to sudden outbreaks in prey; responses can be *functional* in which avian individuals respond to increased prey densities by taking greater numbers of prey, or *numeric* in which greater prey populations are met with increased abundances of avian predators through higher rates of reproduction, immigration, or temporary dispersal (Avery 2002).

To our knowledge the only published empirical examples of avian pest reduction services in almonds are those which quantify the consumption of *mummy nuts* by birds. Mummy nuts are the almond hulls, shells, and nuts retained on trees or orchard floors after harvest (Engle and Barnes 1983). Depending on the region, mummy nuts can harbor important invertebrate pests of almonds including the almond wasp (*Eurythoma amygdali*) in Israel (Schäckermann et al. 2015b) or the carob moth (*Ectomyelois ceratoniae*) in Australia (Luck 2013). In U.S. orchards, overwintering mummy nuts can harbor late instar larvae of navel orangeworm (*Amyelois transitella*) which emerge as adults in spring and lay eggs on remaining mummy nuts or newly developing fruits. First-instar larvae then hatch and bore into the nutmeat, develop into successive instar stages while consuming the nut and render the almond unmarketable. Navel orangeworm is a particularly important agent of almond nut damage in California, not only due to the direct damage caused, but also because larvae

damaged nuts have increased infestations of *Aspergillus* fungi which synthesizes aflatoxins that are carcinogenic to humans and are heavily regulated by countries throughout the globe (Campbell et al. 2003, FAO 2004, UC Statewide IPM Program 2016). California almond industry thresholds for navel orangeworm damage is 2% or less on average (Higbee and Siegel 2009).

The University of California (UC) Statewide IPM Program (2016) recommended guidelines for reducing mummy nuts on trees are based on research which has found that about 1% navel orangeworm damage is expected for every mummy nut left on a tree. Guidelines recommend that growers count the remaining number of mummy nuts on a sampling of trees, to estimate the average number per tree, to knock them off mechanically or by handpoling during the winter before bud swell, and to destroy them. The recommendation is to reduce mummy nuts to two or less per tree on average in orchards where the presence of birds, squirrels (*Sciuridae*), and winter storms favor natural mummy nut removal (e.g., in California's Sacramento Valley), and to fewer than this on average in orchards that lack natural removal (e.g., in California's San Joaquin Valley; UC Statewide IPM Program 2016). In some regions, such as Kern County, California, research has shown that mummy nuts need to be removed to 0.7 mummy nuts per tree on average (Higbee and Siegel 2009).

A few bird species have been documented consuming mummy nuts in orchards, including crows in California (Marsh and Salmon 1996), several unidentified bird species in California (Eilers and Klein 2009), and parrots and cockatoos in Australia (Luck 2013). Presumably many of the same bird species that consume pre-harvest nuts can also consume post-harvest mummy nuts. In Australia, mummy nut removal by birds was 55% and 27% per orchard edge and interior respectively, and 36% per tree over a 3 month winter period (Luck 2013). Bird and/or rodent consumption of mummy nuts ranged from 2% - 96% per orchard in California's Sacramento Valley, was 60.2% at orchard edges and 14.4% at orchard interiors, and was positively correlated with the number of plant species in orchard understories and the proportion of natural habitat within 1 km of orchards (Eilers and Klein 2009).

In California, orchards with higher percentages of vertebrate-damaged empty mummy hulls sampled from the ground had lower percentages of navel orangeworm infestation of mummy nuts sampled from trees, suggesting that birds might preferentially select and consume nuts from infested mummies (Eilers and Klein 2009). Researchers using experimental sentinel almond nuts exposed in post-harvest California orchards in fall (to simulate mummy nuts) and again in pre-harvest orchards during the nut growing season (to simulate harvestable nuts), found that bird damage of sentinel nuts was positively correlated with navel orangeworm infestation of sentinel nuts, and concluded that bird damage to nuts might increase infestation (Hamby and Zalom 2013). The experiment was not designed to separately summarize the fall mummy nut damage by birds (a service to growers) and the spring/summer harvestable nut damage by birds (a disservice to growers), hence the net cost or benefit of almond consumption by birds and its correlation with navel orangeworm damage is unclear in this study. Additionally, the sentinel nuts were removed from the orchard and hung from the porch of a human residence during winter, which likely diminished the beneficial mummy nut removal (and potential consumption of navel orangeworm larvae) that birds might have provided in the orchards during that time. Hamby and Zalom (2013) reported that birds rarely removed entire nuts from remaining sentinel hulls, and implied that birds did not remove entire almonds glued to the simulated branches. This behavior is in conflict with documented almond consumption behavior by birds in which almonds are removed from trees and nuts are completely removed from hulls and shells (Emlen 1977, Eilers and Klein 2009, Luck et al. 2013). It is logical that nuts damaged but not fully consumed by birds would increase naval orangeworm access to kernels and thus increase infestation, and this potential disservice by birds should be evaluated further. The sentinel approach, however, might not have effectively simulated almonds as they are available to birds in orchards.

Under certain economic conditions dependent on the highly fluctuating price/kg of almonds offered to growers, the monetary savings incurred by avian mummy nut consumption can exceed the pre-harvest cost of bird damage to marketable nuts. For example in Australia, Luck (2013) estimated the cost of pre-harvest avian consumption of marketable almonds in one year as AUD \$57.50 ha⁻¹, and the benefit value for avian mummy nut removal services as AUD \$82.50-\$332.50 ha⁻¹ based on a range of labor wages for mechanical or hand-poling removal methods that would be necessary without bird removal of mummies (i.e., replacement cost), to calculate a positive net return of AUD \$25-\$275 ha⁻¹ for Australian almond growers. This type of cost benefit analysis would be beneficial for stakeholders in other regions of almond production and could be enhanced by using a range of spatial and temporal data on almond prices, labor costs, and extent of bird inflicted damage and mummy nut consumption.

Several other pest types inflict damage on almonds (Strand and Ohlendorf 2002); and 12% of the cost per ha of almond production in California was spent on pest control (i.e., insects, vertebrates, disease, and weeds) in 2011 (Klonsky 2012). Though there are no published examples of birds as natural enemies of the many other almond vertebrate or invertebrate pests, there is a growing set of examples of wild insectivorous and carnivorous birds reducing similar pest groups in other perennial tree crops (Table 3). Though rarely occurring in practice, an ideal applied pest control research program would simultaneously involve multiple natural enemies, multiple pests, and multiple life cycle phases and seasons in order to accurately account for the total net costs or benefits of natural enemies and pests for a particular crop (Peisley et al. 2015).

5. Birds and food safety in almonds

5.1. Background on *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* risk in almonds

Historically, nut products have not been associated with high risk of foodborne illnesses in humans. Despite the fact that nuts generally provide a hostile environment for the survival and growth of pathogens, and prevalence is typically low on nuts, the combination of pathogenic Salmonella and Escherichia coli (E. coli) and almonds does pose a risk because 1) both pathogens have low infection doses and the ability to withstand harsh environments, and 2) almonds are predominantly consumed raw (Keller 2014). There are over 2500 identified Salmonella serotypes, and most are innocuous to humans. Most Salmonella related human illnesses stem from types Enteritidis, Heidelberg, Javiana, Newport, and Typhimurium (Jay-Russell 2013). The first recorded human salmonellosis outbreak derived from the consumption of contaminated almonds was during the winter of 2000/2001 when infection of the rare strain of *Salmonella* Enteritidis phage type 30 was confirmed in 168 human cases and traced back to 22 almond orchards of three farms in California (Isaacs et al. 2005). Many birds (and other animals and production surfaces) were sampled from the identified California orchards for isolates of the strain linked to the illnesses, but all tested negative (Isaacs et al. 2005, Uesugi et al. 2007). After a second outbreak traced back to California orchards (CDC 2004), risk analysis-informed regulations were passed that required a mandatory program to reduce *Salmonella* bacteria in almonds. As of 2007, all California grown almonds sold in North America are processed with pasteurization treatments capable of achieving a minimum 4-log reduction in *Salmonella* (Federal Register 2007).

Table 3. Summary of common almond mammal and insect pests, types of damage they inflict (UC Statewide IPM Program 2016), and research on bird pest removal services in comparable terrestrial perennial cropping systems.

Almond pest	Types of almond damage	Birds consuming similar pest taxa in perennial tree crops
<u>small mammals</u> <i>Thomomys</i> spp. (gophers) <i>Microtus</i> spp. (voles) <i>Sciurus</i> spp. (squirrels)	- feed on tree roots, plastic tubing, burrows - gnaw on trunk, roots, can girdle, kill trees - feed on nuts, bark, cause building damage	• Barn owls (<i>Tyto alba</i>) in California consumed more <i>Thomomys</i> when a higher proportion of perennial crops (including almonds), were within 1 km of nest boxes, and more <i>Mus, Reithrodontomys</i> , and <i>Microtus</i> in landscapes dominated by annual crops (Kross et al. 2016a).
moth larvae Malacosoma disstria Arcyips argyrospila Choristoneura rosaceana Amyelois transitella - Grapholita molesta Anarsia lieatella Syanthedon exitiosa - Bondia comonana Euzophera semifuneralis	 defoliate young trees hollow out nuts increase <i>Amyelois transitella</i> infestation bores into nutmeat, consumes nut, contributes to mycotoxin contamination mines young shoots, occasionally nutmeat channels, surface grooves on nutmeat / shoots bores into crown and trunk, causes girdling and death bore into trees, leaving frass and gum pockets, can introduce canker spores which may kill tree 	 In California walnuts, woodpeckers and nuthatches (<i>Sitta</i>) fed on winter <i>Cydia pomonella</i> larvae, Nuttall's Woodpecker fed on mummy nuts (Heath unpublished data). In Florida pecans, titmice (<i>Parus</i>) fed on <i>Acrobasis nuxvorella</i>. Other locations: 3 bird spp. Fed on <i>A. juglandis</i>, 5 on <i>Datana</i>, 5 on <i>Hyphantria cunea</i>, and blackbirds on winter <i>C. caryana</i> (in Tedders et al. 1983). In Australian macadamia, 3 pest larvae spp. consumed by 8 landbird spp. (Crisol-Martínez et al. 2016) In apples of Nova Scotia, England, and U.S., woodpeckers, tits fed on <i>C. pomonella</i> larvae in winter (MacLellan 1959, Solomon et al. 1976, Stairs 1985), in growing season by 2 landbird species in Australia, reducing fruit damage by 12.8% (Peisley et al. 2016), and by tits in Netherlands, reducing damage 2.6%, increase yield 3.1 kg/tree (Mols and Visser 2002).
<u>mites</u> <i>Bryobia rubrioculus</i> <i>Panonychus ulmi</i> <i>Aculus cornutus</i> <i>Tetranychus pacificus, T. urticae, T. turkestani</i>	- can beneficially feed mite predators - damage foliage and leaf stippling - chlorotic spots on leaves, necrotic spots - leaf stippling, yellowing, and loss	• No examples found in temperate perennial crop systems.
<u>scales</u> Parthenolecanium corni Diaspidotus perniciosus	- copious honeydew can damage leaf and fruit - inject toxins into limbs, reduce tree vigor	• No examples found in temperate perennial crop systems.
<u>ants</u> <i>Solenopsis xyloni, S. molesta, Tetramorium caespitum S. ivicta</i>	 consumes entire nutmeats while almonds are drying on orchard floors chew on soft plant tissue and growing buds 	• No examples found in temperate perennial agricultural systems.
<u>beetles</u> Polyphylla decemlineata, P. sobrina	- feeds on roots, severe injury to mature trees	• In pecans, 4 species of bird fed on <i>Knulliana cincta</i> , 5 on <i>Hypermallus villosus</i> , and 45 on <i>Scolytidae</i> (citations in Tedders et al. 1983).

true bugs: sucking and piercing mouth parts		
Leptoglossus clypealis, L. occidentalis, L. zonatus Acrosternum hilare, Chlorochroa uhleri, Thyanta pallidovirens	 feeds on nuts, causes dropping or gumming punctures kernel causes exude, wrinkles, and spots 	• In Australian macadamia orchards, <i>Nysius vinitor</i> were consumed by 4 different landbird species, and <i>Nezara viridula</i> were consumed by 6 landbird species (Crisol-Martínez et al. 2016).

Most *E. coli* strains are harmless to humans, but a subset of strains may cause severe illness. *E. coli* 0157:H7 and six other shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* (STEC) groups (026, 045, 0103, 0111, 0121, 0145) are the cause of most human disease (Jay-Russell 2013). Outbreaks of *E. coli* 0157:H7 illnesses in humans has not been associated with almonds, though they have been epidemiologically associated with consumption of in-shell hazelnuts (CDC 2011) and raw walnut kernels (Canadian Food Inspection Agency 2011).

In response to the *Salmonella* outbreak and a growing concern for food safety, the Almond Board of California, informed by the USFDA, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and California Department of Health Services guidance documents and regulations, developed and adopted Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP; ABC 2009). Among the discontinuation of obvious routes of contamination (e.g., the use of and proximity to non-composted manure, biosolids, primary and secondary sewage effluent, or untreated dairy lagoon water; Isaacs et al. 2005), the GMP outlines guidelines for reducing possible wildlife contamination of almond orchards, processing facilities, and products:

"All animals, including mammals, birds, reptiles, and insects, are potential sources of contamination in processing environments because they harbor, or could be a vector for a variety of pathogenic agents, such as Salmonella or E. coli. Each facility should establish a pest control program to reduce the risk of contamination rodents, insects, birds and any other pests." (ABC 2009)

5.2. Wild birds as vectors of pathogenic *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* in almonds

The scientific literature on the potential role of wild birds in the prevalence and transmission of human infectious disease is copious. This body of work is widely distributed in medical, veterinary, public health, zoological, ecological and wildlife journals, and is the subject of many reviews. A recent rigorous scoping review found that of 963 research citations on the role of wildlife in the transmission of bacterial pathogens, 97 were reviews or commentaries, and 410 of 866 primary research articles pertained to wild birds. 38.0% and 33.8% of papers covered *E. coli* and *Salmonella*, respectively. Yet only 11 primary literature papers investigated the potential of wildlife transmissions of pathogens in any agricultural crop (Greig et al. 2015). Beyond brief mention of birds in the literature specifically addressing the recent almond salmonellosis outbreaks, we were not able to locate any publications that specifically addressed wild birds and pathogens in almonds or other nut tree crops.

Salmonella Typhimurium is the serotype commonly found in avian intestines that is also pathogenic in humans (Tizard 2004). The most important reservoir for pathogenic *E. coli* 0157:H7 is ruminants (particularly cattle) but it can be isolated from birds and other mammals (Clark 2014). Pathogenic serotypes of both bacteria have been isolated from several species of wild bird (Kruse et al. 2004, Benskin et al. 2009, Langholz and Jay-Russell

2013, Table 4). Pathogen prevalence in sampled bird populations tends to be low, as is pathogen concentration in feces of individual birds, especially small sized species (Nice 1994, Abulreesh et al. 2007, Daoust and Prescott 2007, Ferens and Hovde 2011, Langholz and Jay-Russell 2013). Nonetheless, even originally low levels of fecal contamination in a crop production system can be amplified during harvesting and processing to reach a large number of consumers, posing a nontrivial public health concern (Jay-Russell 2013). A prerequisite and major risk factor for avian transmission of pathogenic *E. coli* or *Salmonella* to crops is the birds' exposure to environmental contamination sources such as contaminated sewage, human refuse, water sources, feces of domesticated farm animals, or large quantities of bird feces at communal feeding stations, roosts, or nesting sites (Benskin et al. 2009).

A recent study illustrates the importance of multiple factors (e.g., landscape configuration and type, proximity to domesticated farm animals, bird species identity and traits) when determining the likelihood that a bird will be infected by an enteropathogen from a contamination source. In northeast Spain, prevalence of pathogenic *Salmonella* in fecal samples from 921 birds of 42 species at locations near pig farms were compared to prevalence in fecal samples from 581 birds of 39 species at natural settings greater than 2 km from pig farms (Andrés et al. 2013). Most species sampled were Passeriformes (songbirds) and some were Columbiformes (pigeons and doves); species identities were reported for only the seven species testing positive for pathogenic *Salmonella* (Table 4). The overall pathogenic *Salmonella* prevalence of 1.85% (95% CI 0.93–2.77%) was low, but prevalence was significantly more likely in the birds sampled near pig farms than in the birds sampled in natural areas, and in year round residents/short distance migrants versus long distance migrants. Pathogenic prevalence tended to be less likely in granivorous birds than in insectivores and higher in spring than in summer, fall, or winter. Pathogenic isolates collected from feces of European Starlings (Sturnus vulgaris), Barn Swallows (*Hirundo rustica*), and House Sparrows (*Passer domesticus*) at one pig farm were genetically identical. Genetically similar pathogenic isolates were also found for Rock Doves (*Columba livia*) at a second farm, and between a House Sparrow and Blackcap (Sylvia atricapilla) at a third farm. These results led Andrés et al. (2013) to suggest that pig farms may act as amplifiers of pathogenic infection among wild birds and that species that exhibit high abundance flocking behavior may increase the risk of transmission among birds.

Birds are theoretically ideal mediators of crop contamination and pathogen transmission to humans. Because of their ubiquity in the environment, their mobility, their ability to cross natural and anthropogenic boundaries, and their susceptibility to enteropathogens that Table 4. Pathogenic *Salmonella* or *E. coli* prevalence in a sampling of wild bird species. Data presented only for pathogenic serotypes implicated in human outbreaks (CDC 2016). Prioritized for inclusion were bird species associated with agriculture generally, observed in California almond (Audubon CA unpub. data) or walnut orchards (S. Heath unpub. data), or whose distributions overlap with Mediterranean climate almond growing regions. Scientific names Appendix II.

Location; Landscape type	Species	Pathogen prevalence (# individuals positive/# individuals sampled)	Citation
California, USA; Unreported	Wild Turkey	<i>S.</i> Typhimurium (21/500), <i>S.</i> Pullorum (19/524)	Charlton (2000)
California, USA; Dairies	Brown-headed Cowbird House Sparrows Brewer's Blackbird European Starling Red-winged Blackbird	<i>S.</i> Meleagridis (2/95), <i>S.</i> Muenster (1/95) 3 serotypes of pathogenic <i>Salmonella</i> (13/450) <i>S.</i> Muenster (1/44) <i>S.</i> Typhimurium (1/80) <i>S.</i> Meleagridis (1/78) <i>C.</i> Typhimurium (1/92)	_ Kirk et al. (2002)
California, USA; Grassland hilltop	Red-tailed Hawk Cooper's Hawk	<i>S.</i> Typhimurium (1/85) <i>S.</i> III Arizona 38:k:z35 (3/10) <i>S.</i> Typhimurium (2/10)	Lamberski et al.(2003)
Kansas, USA Cattle feedlot	European Starling	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 (0/434) <i>S.</i> Arizona 2(3 ¹)/434	Gaukler et al. (2009)
Ohio, USA; Dairy farms	European Starling	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 ² (5/430)	Williams et al. (2011)
Zaragoza and Huesca, Spain; Pig farms	European Starling Barn Swallow House Sparrow Eurasian Blackcap Rock Dove Cetti's Warbler White Wagtail 43 additional species ³	<i>S.</i> Typhimurium (1/unk ³), <i>S.</i> Arizona (2/unk) <i>S.</i> Typhimurium (1/unk) <i>S.</i> Typhimurium (3/unk), <i>S.</i> Anatum (1/unk) <i>S.</i> Typhimurium (1/unk) <i>S.</i> Typhimurium (2/unk) <i>S.</i> Mikawasima (1/unk) <i>S.</i> diarizonae (1/unk) 0/379 (total for all remaining species, unidentified) ³	 Andrés et al. (2013)
Maryland and Virginia, USA; Goat and sheep farms	Brown-headed Cowbird Chipping Sparrow Dark-eyed Junco European Starling House Sparrow Mourning Dove Yellow-rumped Warbler Rock Dove Savannah Sparrow Song Sparrow Zonotrichia Sparrow	Salmonella (0/39) Salmonella (0/1) Salmonella (0/1) Salmonella (serotype not determined) (1/175) Salmonella (0/40) Salmonella (0/39) Salmonella (0/1) Salmonella (0/14) Salmonella (0/14) Salmonella (0/1)	Pao et al. (2014)
California, USA; Sheep rangeland	Turkey Vulture	6 serotypes of pathogenic <i>Salmonella</i> (11/55) Antimicrobial-resistant <i>E. coli</i> (11/55)	Sulzner et al. (2014)
Texas, USA; Unreported	Brown-headed Cowbird Common Grackle Cattle Egret	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 (11/309) 13 serotypes of pathogenic <i>Salmonella</i> (38/309) <i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 (3/51) 4 serotypes of pathogenic <i>Salmonella</i> (14/51) <i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 (0/16) <i>S.</i> Montevideo (2/16)	 Callaway et al. (2014)
California, USA; Urban roosts in agricultural region	American Crow	Pathogenic <i>Salmonella</i> serotypes (0/198)	Janecko et al. (2015)

¹ 3rd sample possibly positive; sample was not serotyped but 2 samples serotyped were *S*. Arizona positive

² Genetically related isolates found in livestock and birds, strongly suggesting transmission between them

³Number of samples not reported by species, additional unidentified species mostly Passeriforms, some Columbiforms

cause human illnesses, birds have the potential to link sources of pathogenic *Salmonella* or *E. coli* contamination with products of human consumption (Reed et al. 2003). At present, direct evidence for birds as vectors of *Salmonella* or *E. coli* into an agricultural crop remains scant, with only a few cases providing a genetic link between a pathogen isolated from a bird and a contaminated agricultural food commodity (Clark 2014, Greig et al. 2015). An example most comparable to almond orchards would be that of an experimental study in a sweet cherry (*P. avium*) orchard, in which the same genotype found for a generic *E. coli* isolated from birds in the orchard (species not provided) were also found on the hands of cherry pickers and sorters and in the finished fruit (Bach and Delaquis 2009). The predominant body of evidence for the pathogen-bird-crop link is circumstantial, albeit compelling (Jay-Russell 2013, Clark 2014). Based on our literature review, there are no direct examples of a pathogen from an identified contamination source being transported by an avian vector to an agricultural crop.

Steps of a hypothetical transmission route from contamination source to human intestine, mediated by an avian vector and almond production and consumption is as follows (Figure 2):

- a. A bird species likely to visit and move between contamination sources and orchards in high numbers (e.g., crows, pigeons, blackbirds, Brown-headed Cowbirds (*Molothurs ater*), starlings) is exposed to pathogenic *Salmonella* or *E. coli* at an environmental contamination source (Clark 2014).
- b. The bird becomes infected at one or several contamination sources (Gaukler et al. 2008).
- c. The bird transports the pathogen to an almond orchard location via its gastrointestinal tract and flight (Reed et al. 2003).
- d. The bird perches on an almond tree or overhead wires and defecates on the orchard floor or almond tree (Jay-Russell 2013).
- e. The pathogen contained within the feces can persists in the orchard for up to at least five years for *Salmonella* Enteritidis (Uesugi et al. 2007), and an unpredictable amount of time for *E. coli* 0157:H7 (van Elsas et al. 2011).
- f. During harvest, nuts are mechanically shaken from the tree and are left on the orchard floor to dry for up to two weeks (Harris and Ferguson 2013).
- g. After the drying period is over, almonds are collected with a mechanical sweeper and the almonds are often mixed with the top layer of soil (Pan et al. 2012).
- h. Almonds are then transported to a huller facility, where first the hulls and then the shells are removed (unless they are sold in shell). At this stage almonds from separate orchards are combined, hull dust collects, and pathogens in almonds from the contaminated orchard can be spread to uncontaminated almonds (Isaacs et al. 2005).

- i. After further processing, the almonds are pasteurized (if sold in North America); this step is designed to kill pathogens and to fall below the maximum contamination risk levels mandated by federal regulations (Pan et al. 2012).
- j. Almonds are then packaged, shipped around the world, stored at retailers, or processed into products like almond butter, a step which was implicated in a fifth almond-related *Salmonella* contamination and outbreak (Harris et al. 2016).
- k. Finally, the almond product is purchased, stored (a stage which contributes to the salmonellosis illness risk factor (Lee et al. 2011)), and consumed by humans.



Figure 2. Possible transmission routes of pathogenic *Salmonella* or *E. coli* from contamination sources to human intestine, mediated by wild avian vectors and almond production and pasteurization steps (modified from Pan et al. (2012) and Clark (2014)). Rectangles denote environmental sources of pathogens, the bird (European Starling in this case) represents wild bird species likely to visit both contamination sources and orchards, rounded rectangles indicate media in which pathogens may reside or be transported, dotted line box represents an almond orchard and harvesting steps, peaked boxes represent facilities for indoor almond production, pasteurization, and retail steps. Other wildlife transmission sources include deer, wild boar, domestic cats, amphibians, or rodents, to name a few, and these are indicated by images of each.

5.3. Effectiveness of practices aimed at preventing, controlling, and treating avian vectored pathogens in almonds

Some preventative measures to reduce the risk of avian transmission of enteropathogens to crops are largely out of the control of individual producers because they are dependent on landscape connectivity and spatial arrangement of orchards and contamination sources. For example, a simulation study revealed that apple orchards had an increased risk of *E. coli* contamination when in proximity of landfills or sewage ponds at which gulls could become infected and then transmit the pathogen to orchards by either flying over or occupying them (Duffy and Schaffner 2002). Including landscape configuration in assessments of bird related risk is something being employed and developed by the aviation industry to reduce the risk of aircraft collisions with birds (Clark 2014). Regional land use planning and zoning entities, collaborating with growers, ranchers, feedlot operators, and wildlife professionals, could employ a similar approach when assessing preventative risk reduction of agricultural pathogenic contamination by birds (Lowell et al. 2010, Clark 2014, Karp et al. 2015b).

Farm-scale measures to effectively reduce the risk of avian transmission of pathogens are not well developed and few wildlife examples exist in the literature (Jay-Russell 2013). Nonetheless, fruit and nut producers responding to a survey by Baur et al. (2010) reported using several on-orchard control practices to reduce possible wildlife pathogen vectors including erecting owl boxes or using falconers (70%, n=82), setting poison bait (53%, n=85), or killing pest animals (48%, n=81). One proposal for preventing avian pathogen delivery into crops is for producers to integrate the bird management and control practices that have been employed to reduce crop damage (Clark 2014). To be most effective, however, these adapted measures would need to be species-specific and highly targeted (Jay-Russell 2013). One employed practice is to lethally remove flocking birds that utilize agricultural areas in large numbers (Tracey et al. 2007). Carlson et al. (2011) demonstrated in Texas livestock feeding operations that when European Starlings were killed with *Starlicide* and the population was reduced from over 3,500 to approximately 1,250 birds on average, mean *Salmonella* prevalence in one month was reduced significantly in water troughs (27% to 5%) and in feed (8.25% to 0%), while it remained the same in cattle feces (14%); the reference site, maintaining approximately 1,000 starlings throughout the month, had Salmonella prevalence increase in the water, feed, and feces. Producers and bird conservationists might find common ground in the culling of starlings, a non-native and invasive species that has been implicated in the displacement of native birds while also costing U.S. producers an estimated \$800 million/year (Pimentel et al. 2005). In the long term, however, the practice of killing large numbers of birds in agricultural systems has been ineffective in reducing populations, especially for species with high reproductive rates. Ineffective examples include attempts to control Quelea

(*Quelea quelea*) with organophosphates in Africa, the shooting of Woodpigeons (*Columba palumbus*) in the United Kingdom, the application of the surfactant PA-14 to large roosts of Common Grackles (*Quiscalus quiscula*), Red-winged Blackbirds, and starlings in North America, and the use of explosives at starling roosts in Belgium (Tracey et al. 2007 and citations therein). The taking of migratory birds or nests without special permit is illegal in the U.S. (full protected species list, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 2013) and culling practices carry the risk of harming or killing non-target bird species (Jacob et al. 2002, Singleton et al. 2007), unless specific and targeted measures are employed to eliminate the risk (Treves and Naughton-Treves 2005, Tracey et al. 2007).

Indirect bird population reduction practices aimed at lowering crop contamination risk, such as removal or modification of remnant wildlife habitat in proximity to crops, are in conflict with biodiversity conservation and environmental stewardship goals (Gennet et al. 2013, Jay-Russell 2013). This conflict is clear among fruit and nut growers responding to a survey in which 1) growers reported *increasing* on-farm animal habitat by restoring riparian streambanks (18%, n=300), planting hedgerows or windbreaks (25%, n=307), or planting flower or native plant strips (30%, n=307), and 2) the same and/or different growers reported *reducing* on-farm wildlife habitat by clearing vegetation to expand bare ground buffers (60%, n=315) and removing vegetation from ponds or ditches (62%, n=295) for food safety purposes (Baur et al. 2010). After an *E. coli* 0157:H7 outbreak originating in coastal California leafy green crops, the proliferation of these habitat reduction measures were reactively deemed necessary to eliminate pathogenic outbreaks, and were demanded of producers by some raw produce purchasers (Beretti and Stuart 2008, Gennet et al. 2013). It was estimated that from one year before to six years after the outbreak, declines in five types of non-crop vegetation ranged from 2-30% within 50 m buffers around leafy green farms, while bare ground increased by 30% (Karp et al. 2015b). The efficacy of these and other activities for reducing avian or mammal transmission of enteropathogens has not been comprehensively evaluated (Ilic et al. 2012, Karp et al. 2015a). Notably, however, Karp et al. (2015b) found that despite this extensive non-crop vegetation removal at farm field margins, generic *E. coli* prevalence increased significantly from 0.1% to 2.5% of samples in fresh produce during the same time period. Additionally, they found that among 28 California farms, E. coli prevalence was unchanged when riparian vegetation was removed and prevalence significantly increased by approximately 5% when non-riparian natural vegetation was removed; Salmonella prevalence increased significantly but slightly from 0% to 0.1% when riparian vegetation declined and remained unchanged when non-riparian natural vegetation was removed (Karp et al. 2015a).

The apple orchard contamination simulation discussed earlier predicted that the probability of gull (*Laridae*) transmitted *E. coli* contamination was higher in apples that dropped to the orchard floor; thus a prevention measure producers could practically

employ would be to avoid dropped apples in the production of unpasteurized foods such as the apples themselves or unpasteurized juice (Duffy and Schaffner 2002). A major withinorchard almond contamination risk factor appears to be during the drying and harvesting of almonds from windrows on the orchard floor (Wells 2013), when the proliferation of contaminated dust can mix with drying and collected almonds (Uesugi et al. 2007), when almonds are exposed to rain which can increase pathogenic *Salmonella* concentrations (Uesugi and Harris 2006) and prevalence (Uesugi et al. 2007), when birds can perch above the large quantities of drying almonds and defecate directly onto them (Jay-Russell 2013), or when more species of ground-dwelling wildlife have increased access to the almonds (Langholz and Jay-Russell 2013). Although it has been demonstrated that almonds shaken onto and dried on a canvas ground cover had lower bacterial counts than those knocked onto and harvested from the bare ground (King et al. 1970), the modern practice of mechanically shaking and collecting almonds from the bare orchard floor is central to efficient almond harvesting, and changing the practice may not be economically feasible (Keller 2014).

Most raw-consumed produce has no post-harvest "kill step" for pathogens and preventing in-field contamination is a critical step (Jay-Russell 2013). For almonds, however, the postharvest pasteurization step is mandatory (Federal Register 2007) and effective at reducing food borne illnesses from consumed almonds (Pan et al. 2012). Risk analysis simulations by Lambertini et al. (2012) estimated that under the current regulated pasteurization treatment step for 100% of almonds, the likelihood of illness due to raw almond consumption in North America was on average 0.008 salmonellosis cases per billion servings (with an estimated annual consumption of 6.6 billion servings), or one salmonellosis case in every 17 years. Even small reductions in the proportion of untreated almonds were predicted to frequently exceed the mandated maximum threshold of one salmonellosis case/year (Lambertini et al. 2012). Disadvantages to various pasteurization technologies is that they can affect production efficiency and the quality of the raw nuts from the consumer perspective in terms of vitamins, nutrients, flavors, and sensory quality (Pan et al. 2012). In a survey among 279 volunteer California consumers, 36% of respondents agreed that the health benefits of nuts are about the same whether the nuts are raw, pasteurized, blanched, or roasted (without amendments) while 33% did not agree with the statement and 29% were not sure (Lee et al. 2011). Finally, consumer choice is also factored into Salmonella illness risk assessment. Of the same group of 279 California volunteer consumers, 24% had heard and 26% believed that eating raw nuts could lead to illness from Salmonella, and 18% reported that this information would affect their family's eating habits, while 78% reported that it would not (Lee et al. 2011). An unexplored line of questioning would be to survey consumers about their opinions on food borne illnesses in terms of the costs and benefits of pasteurization, and consumer choice and behavior, versus various direct or indirect wildlife prevention or control measures.

6. The role of almond orchards in avian conservation

Similar to how producers must consider the costs and benefits of different types of pest control practices, crop damage remediation, or food safety risk reduction measures, avian conservation ecologists must consider the potential costs and benefits of bird utilization of agricultural crops.

6.1. The potential costs: almond orchards as ecological traps for birds

Evidence for bird occupancy of almond orchards (see section 3) suggests that several bird species have acclimated to the novelty of this land use type. When considering the conservation potential of agricultural crops for birds, however, it is important to consider the *fitness* and population dynamics of the bird community (Komar 2006, Kleijn et al. 2011). Birds may occupy an almond orchard, but there may be features of the habitat that are unfavorable to avian survival or reproduction (i.e., *fitness*), which can lead to *ecological traps* (Battin 2004), bird declines (Newton 2004, Gibbs et al. 2009), and *local extinction* (Kuussaari et al. 2009). A habitat is considered an *ecological trap* when birds occupy it in high numbers but are unable to adequately survive or reproduce there (Battin 2004). In theory, if a cropping system is an ecological trap, it can influence population dynamics on a larger scale and lead to regional bird declines by becoming a population *sink* in which the attractive features of the habitat (e.g., an abundant but temporary food source) attracts birds to immigrate from habitats of higher quality in terms of fitness, and the reproductive rate of the regional population is unable to exceed its mortality rate (Pullium and Danielson 1991).

One feature of almond orchards that could lead to reduced survival or reproduction in birds is the use of pesticides (i.e., insecticides, fungicides, herbicides, and fumigants) for animal, fungi, and weed management. Since 1985, the number of scientific publications on wildlife pesticide effects has exceeded 4,000 for organophosphates (OPs) and pyrethroids (PYs) alone, and in recent years studies on OPs, PYs, and neonicotinoids (Ns) have had the highest rate of increase (Köhler and Triebskorn 2013). All three of these insecticide types are used in California almond orchards (Table 5; Zhan and Zhang 2014a). About 4% of pesticide effect publications have been on birds, and most have studied wild birds versus laboratory birds or domestics (Köhler and Triebskorn 2013). Overall, the literature provides only a few examples Table 5. Pesticide groups and selected active ingredients used in almond orchards of the Central Valley, California 1996–2010¹. Active ingredients listed if toxicity in birds was evaluated in reviews^{2,3,4}. Year of active ingredient cancellation orders from Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or California Department of Pesticide Regulation: some products (SP) and some products for almonds (SPA) federally, the last federal (NF) or California (NC) products, removal of almonds from California product labels (CA), and total U.S. cancellation (C). Utilization trends indicated as significant increases (A) ndesignificant Sector (SV), San Joaquin Valley (SJ), and Tulare Basin (TB) only. EPA avian toxicity⁵ codes represent quantitative ranges for acute oral toxicity in birds: practically non-toxic (PNT), slightly (ST), moderately (MT), highly (HT), very highly toxic (VHT); bird impact score²: none (1), sublethal (2), mortality (3), mass mortality (4).

PESTICIDE GROUP Active Ingredient	Cancellation order type and year	California use trend (1996-2010)1	Avian toxicity ² , Impact score ¹⁰	, Examples of individual bird effects in laboratory experiments, directed field studies, or incidence monitoring (Scientific names Appendix II).
INSECTICIDES (67.1%) ⁵		▼SV, 🏝		
Carbaryl FRUP ⁶	SP 2015		PNT, 1	P ChE depression in robins ⁷ , no to slight AChE inhibition ²
Hexachloride (lindane)	C 2019		PNT	
Methomyl FRUP	SP 2014		4	Mass mortality when birds drank from leaf whorls after sprays ²
Organophosphates		▼		Endeaving reproductive dispution in hirds?
(5.8%) ^{5b}				Endocrine, reproductive disruption in birds ³
(5) Chlorpyrifos FRUP	SP 2016	▲CV, ST	HT, 2-3	Residues on hawk feet and feathers in almonds ⁸ , carcasses and aberrant behavior ²
Malathion CRM	SPA 2008, SP 2015		ST, 1	Embryotoxicity, lowered P, B ChE in Mallards9
Azinphos-methyl	C 2012		MT, 1-3	P, B ChE depression in robins ¹⁰ , Song and Chipping Sparrows ¹¹ , mortality after 1 st crop spray ²
Dimethoate FRUP	SP 2016		HT, 1-4	B ChE depression, chick weight in Great Tits ¹² , mortality in songbirds and sage grouse ²
Diazinon FRUP	SP 2014		3-4	Mortality of multiple birds species after 1 st apple orchard spray, golf course spray ²
Disulfoton	NC 2009		2	Moderate to severe AChE depression in Blue Jays following treatment in pecan orchards ¹³
Monocrotophos	C 1991		3-4	Large quail mortality in orange orchards after application ²
Acephate	SP 2015		1-3	Ranges from AChE levels indicate exposure to observed mortality ²
Dicrotophos FRUP	NC		3	Individuals of several species dead or debilitated ²
Fenamiphos	C 2017		3	Several individuals of many bird species dead or debilitated ²
Methyl parathion	NF 2010		1-3	Some mortality, brood abandonment in teal ²
Mevinphos	C 1995		4	Large number of songbirds killed after drinking from leaf whorls after sprays ²
Pyrethroids (0.4%) ^{5b}		▲ TB		Endocrine disruptions in birds ³
Neonicotinoids				
Imidacloprid FRUP	CA 2011, SPA 2012		MT, HT	Various effects on Mallard reproduction
FUNGICIDES (16.0%) ⁵		▼		
HERBICIDES (12.7%)⁵				
Pendimethalin	SP 2016		PNT	
Trifluralin	SP 2016		PNT	Embryotoxic for Mallard eggs in lab ³
Alachlor	NF 2016		ST	
Cyanazine	C 1999		MT	
Bromoxynil	SP 2015		HT	Edema, stunted growth in Mallard embryos ¹⁴
Glyphosate FRUP			PNT	
(1) Glyphosate, isopropy	lamine salt FRUP	No Trend	PNT	
(3) Glyphosate, potassiur	n salt		PNT	

¹Zhan and Zhang (2014); ²Mineau (2002); ³Freemark and Boutin (1995); ⁴Köhler and Triebskorn (2013); ⁵EPA (2016); ⁵a% use/all pesticide use; ⁵buse/insecticide use; ⁶**FRUP** = Federal Restricted Use Pesticide, **CRM** = California Restricted Materials; ⁷Cholinesterase (ChE), a sensitive indicator of OP and carbamate exposure in vertebrates in plasma (P) and brain (B) (Brehmer

and Anderson 1992); ⁸Wilson et al. (1991); ⁹In Brain (B) Hoffman and Eastin (1981); ¹⁰Gill et al. (2000); ¹¹Graham and DesGranges (1993); ¹²Cordi et al. (1997); ¹³ White and Seginak (1990);¹⁴Hoffman and Albers (1984)

of evidence for causal links between individual levels of pesticide effects and population or community level effects (Köhler and Triebskorn 2013). Studies in birds provide a few of these rare examples: there is solid evidence for causal linkages between 1) pesticide oral uptake, neurotoxicity, and mass bird deaths, and 2) pesticide (e.g., DDT) oral uptake, endocrine disruption, egg shell thinning, reproductive failure, and population decline (Köhler and Triebskorn 2013). There is also evidence for links in birds between 1) chronic neurotoxin exposure, neurotoxicity, and impaired foraging, learning, and chick-rearing behaviors in captive birds, 2) pesticide exposure and altered metabolisms, and 3) pesticide exposure and immunotoxicity in birds, however these three have not been causally linked to population level impacts (Table 5; Köhler and Triebskorn 2013).

Recent studies have used modeling techniques to examine large-scale long-term bird population changes in relation to pesticide use and environmental pesticide contamination over similar time periods. These efforts are correlative and lack the causal links described above, but unlike laboratory or small scale field studies, their benefits include the ability to examine population level changes at large temporal and spatial scales using large datasets. Hallmann et al. (2014) modeled relationships between surface water concentrations of imidacloprid (a neonicitoid insecticide used in almonds; Table 5) and long-term breeding bird population trends in Denmark, and found strong evidence for significant population declines of six *landbird* species in locations of high imidacloprid water concentrations. Mineau and Whiteside (2013) examined 1980-2003 population trends for U.S. grassland bird species and found that the best predictor for species declines were estimates of lethal risk to birds posed by insecticide use. When the lethal risk of insecticide use to birds was ranked for 77 U.S. crops, California almonds ranked 20th (Mineau and Whiteside 2006).

Because of U.S. federal regulation (Food and Quality Protection Act of 1996) banning many OPs, local research to replace high risk pesticides like OPs with lower risk alternatives, and a concerted effort among almond stakeholders to mitigate pesticide impacts by implementing IPM practices (Klonsky et al. 1990), there has been a significant decrease in the use of this type of insecticide in California almond production since 1996 (Table 5; Zhan and Zhang 2014). OPs had long been applied to dormant winter almond and fruit orchards in California as part of an IPM program and chronic exposure to them was implicated in over-wintering Red-tailed Hawk (*Buteo jamaicensis*) poisoning and mortality (Hooper et al. 1989, Wilson et al. 1991, Fry et al. 1998). OP metabolites were also detected in the feces of California orchard-dwelling Red-shouldered Hawks (*B. lineatus*), an American Kestrel (*Falco sparverius*), and a Western Bluebird (*Sialia mexicana*), and OP residues were detected on the feet of four Red-shouldered Hawks (Wilson et al. 1991, Fry et al. 1998).

Out of 10 compounds used in Canadian apple orchards, OPs and carbamate insecticides (e.g., carbaryl, Table 5) were characterized to have the highest toxicity to Tree Swallows

(*Tachycineta bicolor*) and Eastern Bluebirds (*Sialia sialis*; Bishop et al. 2000a). OP sprays were associated with changes in foraging behavior of chick-rearing adult swallows, and higher toxicity scores in swallows and bluebirds respectively were associated with a 13% and 4% decline in fertility, and a 14% and 5.7% decline in daily chick survival in some years (Bishop et al. 2000a, 2000b). In a West Virginia apple orchard, Brown-headed Cowbird feet and feathers had detectable residue of azinphos-methyl (Table 5) when tested for three exposure period combinations: birds returned to the experimental orchard aviary 1 hr after sprays and sampled after 35 hrs and 7 days of exposure, and birds returned on day 4 after sprays and sampled after 3 days of exposure (Vyas et al. 2007).

The number of publications on wildlife effects of organochlorine (OC; e.g. DDT) insecticide exposure is nearly equal to that of OP, and OC toxicity was the source of at least one of the rare examples linking individual toxicity to population effects in birds (Köhler and Triebskorn 2013). Most OCs are now legally banned in many countries including the U.S., (Köhler and Triebskorn 2013). Nonetheless, OC residues have been shown to persist in orchard environments, and can continue to bioaccumulate in eggs, perhaps confounding contemporary research that often does not test for OC residues in concert with currently used pesticides (Bishop et al. 2000a). For example, OCs were found in the egg shells of Eastern Bluebirds and Tree Swallows nesting in Canadian apple orchards no longer sprayed with OCs and concentrations were significantly and positively associated with the occurrence of unhatched eggs in bluebird nests but not in swallows (Bishop et al. 2000a).

While California almond producers are decreasing their use of OPs, herbicide use is on the rise (Zhan and Zhang 2014), and a few herbicides used in almonds are reported to be moderately or highly toxic to birds (Freemark and Boutin 1995) with little other research on their effects that we could find (Table 5). The trend is the same for the entire U.S., the E.U., and Japan, where the application of herbicides throughout the 1990s and 2000s has far outweighed applications of fungicides or insecticides, but wildlife effects research during the same time period has primarily been on insecticides, with about 25% on herbicides, and less on fungicides (Köhler and Triebskorn 2013).

There are other potential costs to consider when assessing the conservation value of almond orchards for birds, including:

• *Non-reliable food resources*. Birds could become reliant on the abundant nut resources during the breeding season which would then abruptly end at harvest, or reliant on orchard invertebrates whose populations can dramatically decrease in the short term (i.e., indirect effects of pesticides; Boatman et al. 2004, Taylor et al. 2006, Prosser et al. 2016).

- *Predation risk*. Dense populations of predators could impose high mortality rates (e.g., owls using nest boxes placed at orchards for rodent control also eat birds, Kross et al. 2016a).
- *Lack of quality dispersal corridors or contrasting habitats*. Birds often utilize different habitat types during different critical life stages (e.g., nesting vs. fledgling development; White et al. 2005). If almond orchards are isolated and without safe dispersal routes to other bird-friendly habitats types, or surrounded by almond orchard monoculture without contrasting habitat types nearby, mortality could be high for species remaining in them (e.g., Cohen et al. 2004), or attempting to disperse from them (Driscoll et al. 2013).

The literature on bird use of agricultural systems has very few examples of the evaluation of the potential costs to avian fitness, despite its importance when considering the conservation value of agricultural landscapes (Komar 2006, Kleijn et al. 2011).

6.2. The potential beneficial contributions of almonds to avian conservation

Researchers who have studied avian ecology in almond orchards, or in agricultural mosaics containing almonds, have proposed several ways that almond orchards could contribute to the conservation of bird species and communities. Proposals summarized here are based on the evidence presented above on avian habitat use in almonds (section 3). As a conceptual starting point, Luck et al. (2015) proposed a shift in conservation tactics from one which lumps agricultural crop types together (assuming equal habitat quality among them), to one in which different crop types are delineated and categorized as avian habitats of different quality for species or biodiversity, as is done for natural habitat types. Luck et al. (2014) further suggested that when planning conservation actions, focusing on the habitat value of remnant natural vegetation in isolation from that of almonds overlooks the evidence that almonds can contribute to species persistence (e.g., the threatened Regent Parrot). These conceptual proposals align with those of a growing number of ecologists and are referred to as *land sharing* strategies (Perfecto and Vandermeer 2010). This strategy is often posed against *land sparing* tactics, which prioritize maximizing high-yield crops on less land and protecting large and separate reserves of natural habitat (Phalan et al. 2011). A third proposal is to harness the synergistic benefits of both strategies rather than treating them as mutually exclusive (Kremen 2015).

Independent studies have provided evidence that almond orchards can meet some of the

diverse life history requirements of various bird species including Southern Grey Shrikes (*Lanius meridionalis*), Great Bustard, and Red-legged Partridge (*Alectoris rufa*) in Spain (Gortazar et al. 2002, Campos et al. 2006, Alonso et al. 2009), Woodchat Shrikes (*Lanius senator*) in Greece (Apageorgiou et al. 2016), and of avian biodiversity generally in Cyprus

(leronymidou et al. 2012). Though none of these studies' objectives were specifically aimed at characterizing avian use of almond orchards, in all cases some component of the orchards or individual trees were deemed important for the species. These findings led all investigators to the same general conclusion: the negative effects of losing native habitats for birds to agriculture might be mitigated by retaining a mosaic of native vegetation and small farms of different crop types (including almonds), more than would converting the landscape to a homogenous monoculture of any single crop.

As native habitats are increasingly encroached upon or destroyed, crops could become some of the only available options for abundant, nutritious, accessible food for birds (Avery 2002). Recall that parrots appeared to dynamically use almonds as an alternative food source when preferred food resources were low leading Luck et al. (2013) to conclude that rapid reductions in almond orchards (e.g., due to market forces) could lead to declines in threatened Regent Parrot populations if alternative food sources are not increased at equal rates. Even temporary bird reliance on almonds, however, can be perceived as more damaging than it might be, and this type of conflict between producers and parrots (real or perceived) have sometimes ended in the deliberate or accidental killing of the threatened Regent Parrot (Baker-Gabb and Hurley 2010). In light of these conflicts, Luck et al. (2014) call for an innovative approach among almond stakeholders that could probably be applied to any almond growing region. The suggestion is to use *co-management* strategies (e.g., Lowell et al. 2010) to develop co-benefit outcomes such as minimizing almond production losses while also promoting bird conservation. Such collaborations will require an objective empirical accounting of the true costs and benefits that birds generate for producers, and a willingness to accept a low level of crop loss; likewise, diligent research, planning, and implementation on the part of conservationists and managers is needed to determine acceptable levels and locations of habitat loss, protection, or co-management with producers.

6.3. Audubon Important Bird Areas in California's Central Valley almond growing region

Important Bird Areas (IBAs) are protected or unprotected sites around the globe that have been identified as important for birds of state, continental, or global conservation concern (Audubon 2016). California's IBAs are as much a part of the agricultural mosaic of the Central Valley as are almond orchards (Figure 3). There is little direct overlap of almond production and IBAs. Rather, it appears that almond orchards border the edges of IBAs, extend away from IBAs up to approximately 60 km before abutting another IBA, or extend away from IBAs up to 100 km before abutting a major urban area. This landscape configuration is likely amenable to a descriptive research design aimed at determining patterns of bird use in almond orchards at different distances away from IBAs (see Section 7). Utilizing data from



Figure 3. California's Central Valley almond orchard extent in 2015 and Audubon California Important Bird Areas as of March 2016. Cropland data layer with ground resolution of 30m, each pixel equals 0.003 ha (USDA NASS 2015).

these research efforts, the Almond Board of California and Audubon California can collaboratively identify priority regions for bird conservation and almond sustainability efforts.

7. Study design in almonds

Based on knowledge gaps identified in this literature review, and specific areas of interest of both the Almond Board of California and Audubon California, we propose the following design outlines for three topics of study:

7.1. Patterns of bird use in almond orchards of California's Central Valley

<u>Objective</u>: To determine patterns in avian occupancy of almond orchards in all seasons, including bird abundance and diversity measures in relation (but not limited) to distances from Audubon Important Bird Areas or a specific natural habitat type (e.g., riparian). <u>Type of Research</u>: Descriptive and correlational, with opportunities to address more hypotheses.

Design: To accommodate the landscape, climatic, and ecological variability of California's Central Valley, we recommend stratifying bird sampling transects within the Sacramento Valley, Delta, San Joaquin, and Tulare Basin almond growing regions of the Central Valley. Within each region, at least three categories of increasing distances (or alternatively a gradient of continuous distances) from a chosen habitat type should be established within which bird sampling units can be randomly located to the extent possible given logistical constraints such as grower permissions. Thus, sampling units would be one bird transect in one orchard (see methods below), grouped accordingly (in order of larger to smaller geographical groupings): Central Valley[region[distance category[orchard[line transect]]]]. To adequately estimate bird abundance or diversity in almond orchards at varying distances from the chosen features, it would be prudent to perform a one year pilot study that would allow for the estimation of population variance within and between these groupings. A power analysis can then determine the sample size necessary to achieve a specific level of statistical power, given desired effect sizes. In absence of a pilot study, one could calculate population variance from other Central Valley bird studies and assume that this estimate captures the variance present in the populations of interest.

<u>Methods</u>: To estimate bird abundance, evenness of abundance (Cotgreave and Harvey 1994), and indices of diversity (Macarthur and Macarthur 1961), we recommend using full distance measured line transects (Bibby et al. 2000). Based on summer and winter home range sizes of most landbirds (e.g., warblers, sparrows, woodpeckers, corvids) in the Central Valley, we assume that separating sampling units by at least 1 km will approximate independence. Typically only a single line transect of 200 – 300 m will fit inside of an orchard block. The same goes for a single point count, and this is why we recommend against the point count method for this study. The length and the sampling time of the line transect should be standardized among orchards; we recommend walking and recording

birds at a rate of approximately 1 min/10 m (i.e., 20 minutes for a 200 m transect). We recommend at least two visits to each transect within each season of interest, spaced at least 7 days apart. Observers should finish all daily transects within 4-5 hours after local sunrise and should randomize the order of transects for each visit. During the timed transect, observers walk along a predetermined transect and record all birds detected by sight, song, or call, and the distance to each bird perpendicular to the transect (see Bibby et al. (2000) for further detail).

If assessing patterns in bird occupancy in relationship to additional local and landscape habitat or orchard management components is desired then we recommend utilizing a combination of digitized landscape analysis techniques (i.e., GIS) and orchard level measurements of vegetation characteristics, almond phenology, orchard management, etc.

<u>Potential variables of interest</u>: Region (4-level categorical variable); distance to IBA (categorical distance grouping or continuous distances); orchard scale variables (e.g., tree phenology, tree cover, number of tree stems, age of orchard, size of orchard block, presence of hedgerow on orchard edge); landscape variables (e.g., distance to nearest natural habitat type, % coverage of almond within a determined radius from transect, distance to urban area).

7.2. The economic and ecological costs and benefits of almond damage by birds (disservice) and pest reduction by birds (service) to almond growers in California's Central Valley.

<u>Objectives</u>: To quantify species level pre-harvest almond damage rates by birds, to quantify species level post-harvest mummy nut reduction by birds (and/or pre- or post-harvest reduction of other key almond pests by birds), and to use these data to calculate ranges of potential net costs or benefits of birds to growers under a range of spatial and temporal, and economic and ecological, conditions.

<u>Type of Research</u>: Descriptive, experimental, and correlational

<u>Design</u>: We recommend that data on patterns in bird use of almond orchards (Study Design 1) are collected either prior to or in concert with the implementation of this study. We recommend choosing one of two approaches:

A) *Net costs or benefits of birds in relationship to distances from chosen habitat type.* Select for study one of the four Central Valley almond growing regions described above. Within this region (e.g., riparian), select a subset of the transect orchards from Study Design 1 at different distances from regional chosen habitat type. For each distance category orchard, calculate the net cost or benefit estimates derived from orchard level data and the economic conditions of the current growing season, and model relationships between these net ranges and distances from IBAs.

B) *Regional and statewide net costs or benefits of birds to growers under a range of economic conditions.* Select a subset of the transect orchards from Study Design 1 within each of the four Central Valley almond growing regions, calculate ranges of net benefits or costs for each orchard based on orchard level data and a range of economic conditions expected annually across a 5 year period for that orchard or region, and derive model predicted net costs or benefit estimates for each region and the entire Central Valley.

Sample size will likely be most limited by logistics and cost for this large scale and labor intensive study. A single year pilot study in a single orchard (i.e., alongside Study Design 1) could provide great insight into logistical costs, labor needs, and methodological choices in orchards.

For approach A, we recommend at minimum a total of 30 orchards (if variation in factors such as orchard age, variety, and orchard management can be reduced, this number can be lowered). If the goal is to attempt to capture the variance in damage and mummy nut consumption in orchards at variable distances from a habitat type, we recommend locating 10 orchards in increasing distances and more or less in a line from each of three locations of a single habitat area. All orchards within and between the three lines of 10 increasingly distant orchards should be at least 1 km apart. An option for analysis flexibility would be to randomly generate 30 different distance locations in a stratified way to assure about 10 orchards at far distances, 10 at medium distances, and 10 orchards in close proximity to the habitat; this would allow for an analysis with distance from habitat type as a continuous variable (likely affording more power) or for an analysis comparing three different distance groupings (could be beneficial). If the goal is to capture the variance in damage and mummy nut consumption at distances from a habitat type in a particular region, we recommend using a similar design, but to use only 10 orchards at variable distances from each of three different habitat areas of the same general type.

Based on data presented in Gebhardt et al. (2011), the variance in avian damage and mummy nut removal across the Central Valley is likely quite high. Thus, for approach B, we recommend quantifying almond damage and mummy nut removal by birds and assessing monetary costs and benefits for at minimum 30 orchards per each of four regions for a total of 120 orchards; this would likely require four separate field crews of at least two people each. The 30 orchards per region would be selected from a subset of orchards chosen for Study Design 1.

If a different almond pest is chosen in lieu of navel orangeworms or other insect larvae infesting mummy nuts, the same design strategy could likely be implemented.

Methods: To assign monetary value to costs and benefits to growers, we recommend using archived almond production data (e.g., county level data used to produce CDFA 2015, Almond Board of California 2016) to determine several representative years of almond prices. Other sources of data (e.g., grower survey reports, existing literature, market data, expert opinion) will need to be identified to calculate regional and annual ranges of monetary costs to growers for almond damage and almond damage prevention, and replacement costs of pest control or mummy nut removal by birds (i.e., costs of labor, equipment, insecticide). Examples of single year cost benefit analyses of this type include Luck (2013) for almonds, and Saunders and Luck (2016) for apples. There are several methods used to quantify pre-harvest almond damage by birds, we recommend using a combination of randomly assigned almond branch exclosures and ground almond hull collection. Examples of studies that have used exclosure techniques to quantify bird specific almond damage include Luck (2013) and Schäckermann et al. (2015a). Resources for methods to identify and quantify almond damage by birds and rodents from almond hulls collected on orchard floors include Emlen (1977) and Eilers and Klein (2009). Studies that describe exclosure and count or collect methods for quantifying post-harvest mummy nut consumption by birds include Luck (2013) and Eilers and Klein (2009). Identifying avian almond and mummy nut consumers to species can be achieved for some species by identifiable marks left on almond hulls (as in Emlen 1977), by foraging rate observation (Morrison et al. 1990), or by use of sentinel almonds and motion sensor video cameras. We recommend a combination of these techniques as each is likely biased toward or against particular species.

For multiple studies that provide detail on techniques for measuring bird consumption of other pest types, refer to citations listed in Table 3.

<u>Variables of interest</u>: Annual and regional almond price, price of labor and equipment for mummy nut removal, price of labor and equipment for almond nut damage prevention, percent or number of almonds damaged by birds (and species), percent or number of mummy nuts consumed by birds (and species), distance from orchard edge, distance to IBA, region.

7.3. A quantitative assessment of enteropathogenic outbreak risk associated with avian occupancy of almond orchards and human almond consumption in California's Central Valley.

<u>Objectives</u>: Estimate enteropathogenic prevalence in birds utilizing almond orchards, identify potential sources of contamination within bird flying distances of almond orchards, quantify bird movement between contamination sources and orchards, estimate effects of proximity to Audubon IBAs or other wildlife habitats on pathogen prevalence, and incorporate these data into existing almond pathogen risk assessments. <u>Type of Research</u>: Descriptive, correlative, model simulation

Design suggestions: We recommend that data on patterns in avian use of almond orchards (Study Design 1) be collected and analyzed prior to the detailed design and implementation of this project. Orchard sampling locations for this project should be subsampled from sampling locations generated in Study Design 1 with location considerations for this study including proximity to wildlife habitat and contamination sources (proximity would ideally be variable at continuous distances from these features). The number of sampling orchards will be determined by the type of results preferred. For example, if estimates of temporal changes in prevalence of pathogens in birds are preferred, fewer orchards and more sampling events across a pre-determined period of time will be required. If estimates of spatial prevalence of pathogens during a specific time period are preferred, more orchards and fewer sampling times will be required. We highly recommend that the Almond Board of California and/or Audubon California collaborate with the University of California Western Institute for Food Safety and Security staff, or experts in this topic from a different California research group to both design and implement the pathogen prevalence component of this study. There are at least two risk assessments completed for salmonellosis outbreaks sourced from Salmonella in Central Valley almond orchards (Danyluk et al. 2006, Lambertini et al. 2012), and another for illness attributed to *E. coli* 0157:H7 contamination in apple orchards (Duffy and Schaffner 2002). Estimates of avian pathogen prevalence, bird behavior, and landscape risk factors derived from this study can potentially be incorporated into existing risk assessments, along with other estimates of additional risk factors in almonds (e.g., Santillana Farakos et al. 2016), to determine the contributions that birds might have to enteropathogenic disease outbreaks.

<u>Methods</u>: We recommend quantifying pathogenic prevalence in birds by capturing them with mist nets in orchards; identifying, sexing, and aging individuals if possible; banding them for future identification; and collecting cloacal fecal swabs from all individuals captured. Sampling start, end, and duration times should be standardized and effort data (e.g., number of mist nets, total hours opened) should be recorded. *Salmonella, E. coli*, and other selected isolates should be genotyped from cloacal swabs in order to confirm whether or not isolates are known pathogenic serotypes. Pathogenic prevalence should be estimated for bird species captured prior to beginning the next stage of the study. To quantify bird movement and behavior in orchards and surrounding landscapes, we recommend either of two (or both) of the following approaches: 1) use location tracking devices on bird species with the highest estimates of pathogenic prevalence as estimated during the first portion of the study. Specifically, spatially explicit movement and location data will be required to quantify distances traveled by birds outside of orchards and between orchards, to identify potential contamination sites, and to quantify movement between birds and potential contaminations sites; and 2) use GIS to locate and map potential sources of contamination at varying distance around orchards. In either case, potential contamination sites visited by these bird species (or selected by researchers via GIS) should also be sampled for pathogenic prevalence. It should be genetically determined whether distinct pathogenic strains are shared between birds in orchards and contamination sources they potentially visit. Approach 1 will require higher labor and equipment costs; the limitations of using the second approach alone is that spatially explicit movement and behavior data of potential avian vectors remains an unexplored aspect of wildlife pathogen vector research (Jay-Russell 2013) that if collected could help improve risk reduction measures in orchards. Finally, estimates of species specific prevalence, movement, location, and strain-specific pathogenic linkages between birds and contamination sites, and their accompanying uncertainties, will need to be incorporated into simulation models to identify if and how much birds contribute to outbreak risk in almonds.

<u>Variables of Interest</u>: Species specific pathogen prevalence; species specific mean, range, and variation estimates for distances traveled beyond orchards; locations and identities of potential contamination sources visited by orchard birds; pathogen prevalence at potential contamination sites; prevalence of strain-specific linkages between bird species and contamination sites.

8. Literature Cited

- [ABC] Almond Board of California. 2009. Good Manufacturing Practices. http://www.almonds.com/sites/default/files/content/attachments/gmp-manual.pdf.
- [CDC] Center for Disease Control. 2011. Multistate Outbreak of E. coli O157:H7 Infections Associated with In-Shell Hazelnuts (final update). http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2011/hazelnuts-4-7-11.html.
- [CDC] Center for Disease Control & Prevention. 2004. Outbreak of Salmonella Serotype Enteritidis Infections Associated with Raw Almonds - United States and Canada, 2003-2004. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 53:484–487.
- [CDC] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2016. Foodborne Outbreaks. http://www.cdc.gov/foodsafety/outbreaks/index.html.
- [CDFA] California Department of Food and Agriculture. 2015. California Agricultural Statistics Review, 2014-2015:1–126.
- [CDFA] California Department of Food and Agriculture. 2016a. 2015 California Almond Acreage Report.

- [CDFA] California Department of Food and Agriculture. 2016b. California Agricultural exports 2014-2015.
- [EPA] United States Environmental Protection Agency. 2016. Ecotoxicity categories for terrestrial and aquatic organisms. https://www.epa.gov/pesticide-science-andassessing-pesticide-risks/technical-overview-ecological-risk-assessment-0.
- [FAO] Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2004. Worldwide regulations for mycotoxins in food and feed in 2003. FAO Food and Nutrition Paper 81:9–28.
- [FAOSTAT] Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Statistic Division. 2016. Inputs: Land Area dataset.
- [FAOSTAT] Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Statistics Division. 2013. Area harvested from worldwide crops 2013.
- [INC] International Nut & Dried Fruit Council. 2015. INC Global Statistical Review:76 S.
- [USDA FAS] United States Department of Agriculture Foreign Agricultural Service. 2015. Tree Nuts: World Markets and Trade.
- [USDA NASS] USDA National Agricultural Statistics Service Cropland Data Layer [Online]. 2015. California Almond Data Layer. Available at https://nassgeodata.gmu.edu/CropScape/ (accessed 19 September 2016). USDA-NASS, Washington, D.C.
- Abulreesh, H. H., R. Goulder, and G. W. Scott. 2007. Wild birds and human pathogens in the context of ringing and migration. Ringing & Migration 23:193–200.
- Aghanajafizadeh, S., F. Heydari, G. Naderi, and M. R. Hemami. 2011. Nesting hole site selection by the Syrian Woodpecker, Dendrocopos syriacus, in Yazd province, Iran (Aves: Picidae). Zoology in the Middle East 53:3–6.
- Almond Board of California. 2016. Almond Industry Position Report 2015-2016 Crop Year.
- Alonso, J. C., C. Palacín, J. A. Alonso, and C. A. Martín. 2009. Post-breeding migration in male great bustards: Low tolerance of the heaviest Palaearctic bird to summer heat. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 63:1705–1715.
- Amano, T. 2009. Conserving bird species in Japanese farmland: Past achievements and future challenges. Biological Conservation 142:1913–1921.
- Andrés, S., J. P. Vico, V. Garrido, M. J. Grilló, S. Samper, P. Gavín, S. Herrera-León, and R. C. Mainar-Jaime. 2013. Epidemiology of subclinical salmonellosis in wild birds from an area of high prevalence of pig salmonellosis: Phenotypic and genetic profiles of salmonella isolates. Zoonoses and Public Health 60:355–365.

Apageorgiou, D. P., C. B. Arboutis, C. K. Assara, and G. Iokas. 2016. Habitat selection of

woodchat shrikes Lanius senator during spring stopover is related to foraging strategy. Current Zoology:1–20.

Audubon. 2016. Important Bird Areas. http://web4.audubon.org/bird/iba/index.html.

- Avery, M. L. 2002. Birds in pest management. Page USDA National Wildlife Research Center Staff Publications. Paper 457.
- Bach, S., and P. Delaquis. 2009. The Origin and Spread of Human Pathogens in Fruit Production Systems. Pages 55–80*in* X. Fan, B. Niemira, C. Doona, F. Feeherry, and R. Gravani, editors.Microbial Safety of Fresh Produce. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Baker-Gabb, D., and V. G. Hurley. 2010. National Recovery Plan for the Regent Parrot (eastern subspecies) Polytelis anthopeplus monarchoides:1–29.
- Baldwin, R. A., T. P. Salmon, R. H. Schmidt, and R. M. Timm. 2011. Vertebrate pset "research needs" assessment for California agricultural commodities. techreport.
- Baldwin, R. A., T. P. Salmon, R. H. Schmidt, and R. M. Timm. 2013. Wildlife pests of California agriculture: Regional variability and subsequent impacts on management. Crop Protection 46:29–37.
- Baldwin, R. A., T. P. Salmon, R. H. Schmidt, and R. M. Timm. 2014. Perceived damage and research areas of needed research for wildlife pests of California agriculture. Integrative Zoology 9:265–279.
- Battin, J. 2004. When good animals love bad habitats: ecological traps and the conservation of animal populations. Conservation Biology 18:1482–1491.
- Baur, P., L. Driscoll, S. Gennet, and D. Karp. 2010. Inconsistent food safety pressures complicate environmental conservation for California produce growers 70:142–151.
- Benskin, C. M., K. Wilson, K. Jones, and I. R. Hartley. 2009. Bacterial pathogens in wild birds: a review of the frequency and effects of infection. Biological Reviews 84:349–373.
- Beretti, M., and D. Stuart. 2008. Food safety and environmental quality impose demands on Central Coast growers. California Agriculture 62:217–220.
- Bibby, C. J., N. D. Burgess, D. A. Hill, and S. H. Mustoe. 2000. Bird Census Techniques. 2nd edition. Academic Press, London.
- Bishop, C. A., B. Collins, P. Mineau, N. M. Burgess, W. F. Read, and C. Risley. 2000a. Reproduction of cavity-nesting birds in pesticide-sprayed apple orchards in southern Ontario, Canada, 1988-1994. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 19:588–599.
- Bishop, C. A., P. Ng, P. Mineau, J. S. Quinn, and J. Struger. 2000b. Effects of pesticide spraying on chick growth, behavior, and parental care in tree swallows (Tachycineta bicolor) nesting in an apple orchard in ontario, Canada. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 19:2286–2297.

- Boatman, N. D., N. W. Brickle, J. D. Hart, T. P. Milsom, a J. Morris, a W. a Murray, K. a Murray, and P. a Robertson. 2004. Evidence for the indirect effects of pesticides on farmland birds. Ibis 146:131–143.
- Bonet, A., and J. G. Pausas. 2007. Mediterranean Basin: Patterns and Processes in Semiarid Southeast Spain. Pages 247–264*in* V. Cramer and R. Hobbs, editors.Old Fields: Dynamics and Restoration of Abandoned Farmland. Island Press.
- Brehmer, P. M., and R. K. Anderson. 1992. Effects of urban pesticide applications on nesting success of songbirds. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 48:352–359.
- Brice, A. T., K. H. Dahl, and C. R. Grau. 1989. Pollen digestibility by hummingbirds and Psittacines. The Condor 91:681–688.
- Browicz, K., and D. Zohary. 1996. The genus Amygdalus L. (Rosaceae): Species relationships, distribution and evolution under domestication. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 43:229–247.
- Bryant, H. C. 1912. The Lewis Woodpecker a destroyer of almonds. The Monthly Bulletin of California State Commission of Horticulture 1:362-.
- Callaway, T. R., T. S. Edrington, and D. J. Nisbet. 2014. Isolation of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 and Salmonella from migratory brown-headed cowbirds (Molothrus ater), common grackles (Quiscalus quiscula), and cattle egrets (Bubulcus ibis). ELEC, New Rochelle.
- Campbell, B. C., R. J. Molyneux, and T. F. Schatzki. 2003. Current Research on Reducing Preand Post-harvest Aflatoxin Contamination of U.S. Almond, Pistachio, and Walnut. Toxin Reviews 22:225–266.
- Campos, F., F. Gutierrez-Corchero, and M. A. Hernandez. 2006. Nesting of southern grey Shrike, Lanius meridionalis in agrosystems of northern Spain. Ecologia:225–232.
- Campos, F., T. Santamaría, F. Gutiérrez-Corchero, M. Ángeles Hernández, and P. Mas. 2011. Breeding Success of Southern Grey Shrikes Lanius meridionalis in Agricultural Areas: The Influence of Nest Site Characteristics. Acta Ornithologica 46:29–36.
- Canadian Food Inspection Agency. 2011. Certain bulk and prepack- aged raw shelled walnuts may contain E. coli 0157:H7 bacteria. Health hazard alerts, April 2011. http://www.inspection.gc.ca/about-the-cfia/newsroom/food-recallwarnings/complete-listing/2011-04-04/eng/1359548340145/1359548340176.
- Carlson, J. C., R. M. Engeman, D. R. Hyatt, R. L. Gilliland, T. J. Deliberto, L. Clark, M. J. Bodenchuk, and G. M. Linz. 2011. Efficacy of European starling control to reduce Salmonella enterica contamination in a concentrated animal feeding operation in the Texas panhandle. ELEC, London.
- Charlton, K. G. 2000. Antibodies to selected disease agents in translocated wild turkeys in California. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 36:161–164.

- Clark, L. 2014. Disease risks posed by wild birds associated with agricultural landscapes. Pages 139–165*in* K. R. Matthews, G. Sapers, and C. Gerba, editors. The Produce Contamination Problem: Causes and Solutions. Second Edi. Elsevier.
- Cohen, E. B. E., C. A. Lindell, and P. Stouffer. 2004. Survival, habitat use, and movements of fledgling White-throated Robins (Turdus assimilis) in a costa rican agricultural landscape. The Auk 121:404–414.
- Condon, H. T. 1947. Branch Reports: South Australia. Emu 46:252–253.
- Cordi, B., C. Fossi, and M. Depledge. 1997. Temporal biomarker responses in wild passerine birds exposed to pesticide spray drift. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 16:2118–2124.
- Cortopassi, A., and L. Mewaldt. 1965. The circumannual distribution of White-crowned Sparrows. Bird-Banding 36:141–169.
- Cotgreave, P., and P. H. Harvey. 1994. Evenness of abundance in bird communities. Journal of Animal Ecology 63:365–374.
- Crisol-Martínez, E., L. T. Moreno-Moyano, K. R. Wormington, P. H. Brown, and D. Stanley. 2016. Using next-generation sequencing to contrast the diet and explore pestreduction services of sympatric bird species in macadamia orchards in Australia. PLoS ONE 11.
- Danyluk, M. D., L. J. Harris, and D. W. Schaffner. 2006. Monte carlo simulations assessing the risk of salmonellosis from consumption of almonds. ELEC, Des Moines.
- Daoust, P.-Y., and J. F. Prescott. 2007. Salmonellosis. Page *in* N. J. Thomas, D. B. Hunter, and C. T. Atkinson, editors. Infectious Diseases in Wild Birds. Blackwell Publishing, Carlton, Victoria.
- Delplancke, M., M. Yazbek, N. Arrigo, A. Espíndola, H. Joly, and N. Alvarez. 2016. Combining conservative and variable markers to infer the evolutionary history of Prunus subgen. Amygdalus s.l. under domestication. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 63:221– 234.
- Desfayes, M., and J.-C. Praz. 1978. Notes on habitat and distribution of montane birds in southern Iran. Bonner Zoologische Beitrage 29:18–37.
- Dobb, J. S. 2014. Bird and rodent pest control in select California crops: economic contributions, impacts, and benefits. Colorado State University.
- Donald, P. F., R. E. Green, and M. F. Heath. 2001. Agricultural intensification and the collapse of Europe's farmland bird populations. Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society 268:25–9.
- Driscoll, D. A., S. C. Banks, P. S. Barton, D. B. Lindenmayer, and A. L. Smith. 2013. Conceptual domain of the matrix in fragmented landscapes. Trends in Ecology & Evolution:1–40.

- Duffy, S., and D. W. Schaffner. 2002. Monte Carlo simulation of the risk of contamination of apples with Escherichia coli O157:H7. International Journal of Food Microbiology 78:245–255.
- Dybala, K. E., M. L. Truan, and A. Engilis. 2015. Summer vs. winter: Examining the temporal distribution of avian biodiversity to inform conservation. Condor In press:560–576.
- Eilers, E. J., and A.-M. Klein. 2009. Landscape context and management effects on an important insect pest and its natural enemies in almond. Biological Control 51:388–394.
- Elliott, B., L. Wilhoit, M. Brattesani, and N. Gorder. 2004. Pest Management Assessment for Almonds: Reduced-Risk Alternatives to Dormant Organophosphate Insecticides.
- Elliott, G., and S. L. Small. 2003. Case Studies of ACS Applied: The Sacramento River Restoration Feedback Loop. Pages 14–18*in* G. Elliott, M. Chase, G. Geupel, and E. Cohen, editors.Developing and implementing an adaptive conservation strategy: A guide for improving adaptive management and sharing the learning among conservation practitioners. PRBO Conservation Science.
- van Elsas, J. D., A. V Semenov, R. Costa, and J. T. Trevors. 2011. Survival of Escherichia coli in the environment: fundamental and public health aspects. The ISME journal 5:173–183.
- Emlen, J. T. 1937. Bird damage to almonds in California. The Condor 39:192–197.
- Emlen, J. T. 1977. Estimating breeding season bird densities from transect counts. The Auk 94:455–468.
- Engle, C. E., and M. M. Barnes. 1983. Cultural control of navel orangeworm in almond orchards. California Agriculture 37:19.
- Estrada, A., and R. Coates-Estrada. 2005. Diversity of Neotropical migratory landbird species assemblages in forest fragments and man-made vegetation in Los Tuxtlas, Mexico. Biodiversity and Conservation 14:1719–1734.
- Failla, M., V. A. Seijas, P. Quillfeldt, and J. F. Masello. 2008. Potential impact of Burrowing Parrots (Cyanoliseus patagonus) on the crops in North-eastern Patagonia (Argentina): damage perception by local producers. Gestion Ambiental:27–40.
- Farina, A. 1989. Bird community patterns in Mediterranean farmlands: a comment. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 27:177–181.
- Federal Register. 2007. Almonds Grown in California; Outgoing Quality Control Requirements, 7 C.F.R. Part 981. Pages 15021–15036. U.S.A.
- Ferens, W. A., and C. J. Hovde. 2011. Escherichia coli O157:H7: animal reservoir and sources of human infection. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease 8:465–487.
- Flint, M. L., S. H. Dreistadt, and J. K. Clark. 1998. The Natural Enemies Handbook: The

Illustrated Guide to Biological Pest Control. UC Division of Agriculture and Natural Sciences & University of California Press, Berkeley.

- Freemark, K., and C. Boutin. 1995. Impacts of agricultural herbicide use on terrestrial wildlife in temperate landscapes: a review with special reference to North America. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 52:67–91.
- Fry, D. M., B. W. Wilson, N. D. Ottum, J. T. Yamamoto, R. W. Stein, J. N. Seiber, M. M. McChesney, and E. Richardson. 1998. Radiotelemetry and GIS computer modeling as tools for analysis of exposure to organophosphate pesticides in Red-tailed Hawks. Pages 67–83 *in* L. Brewer and K. Fagerstone, editors.Radiotelemetry applications for wildlife toxicology field studies. Book Section, SETAC Press, Pensacola.
- Fuller, R. J., R. D. Gregory, D. W. Gibbons, J. H. Marchant, J. D. Wilson, S. R. Baillie, and N. Carter. 1995. Population declines and range contractions among lowland farmland birds in Britain. Conservation Biology 9:1425–1441.
- Gardali, T., A. Holmes, S. Small, N. Nur, G. Geupel, and G. Golet. 2006. Abundance patterns of landbirds in restored and remnant riparian forests on the Sacramento River, California, USA. Restoration Ecology 14:391–403.
- Gaukler, S. M., H. J. Homan, N. W. Dyer, G. M. Linz, and W. J. Bleier. 2008. Pathogenic Diseases and Movements of Wintering European Starlings Using Feedlots in Central Kansas. ELEC.
- Gaukler, S. M., G. M. Linz, J. S. Sherwood, N. W. Dyer, W. J. Bleier, Y. M. Wannemuehler, L. K. Nolan, and C. M. Logue. 2009. Escherichia coli, Salmonella, and Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis in Wild European Starlings at a Kansas Cattle Feedlot. Avian Diseases 53:544–551.
- Gebhardt, K., A. M. Anderson, K. N. Kirkpatrick, and S. a. Shwiff. 2011. A review and synthesis of bird and rodent damage estimates to select California crops. Crop Protection 30:1109–1116.
- Gennet, S., J. Howard, J. Langholz, K. Andrews, M. D. Reynolds, and S. A. Morrison. 2013. Farm practices for food safety: An emerging threat to floodplain and riparian ecosystems. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 11:236–242.
- Gibbs, K. E., R. L. MacKey, and D. J. Currie. 2009. Human land use, agriculture, pesticides and losses of imperiled species. Diversity and Distributions 15:242–253.
- Gignoux, C. 1921. The Storage of Almonds by the California Woodpecker. The Condor 23:118–121.
- Gill, H., L. K. Wilson, K. M. Cheng, S. Trudeau, and J. E. Elliott. 2000. Effects of azinphosmethyl on American robins breeding in fruit orchards. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 65:756–763.

Glen, D. 1975. The effects of predators on the eggs of codling moth Cydia pomonella, in a

cider-apple orchard in south-west England. Annals of Applied Biology 80:115–135.

- Glen, D., N. Milsom, and C. Wiltshire. 1981. The effect of predation by blue-tits (Parus caeruleus) on the sex-ratio of codling moth (Cydia pomonella). Journal of Applied Ecology 18:133–140.
- Gortazar, C., R. Villafuerte, M. A. Escudero, and J. Marco. 2002. Post-breeding densities of the Red-legged Partridge (Alectoris rufa) in agrosystems: A large-scale study in Aragon, Northeastern Spain. Zeitschrift fuer Jagdwissenschaft 48:94–101.
- Graham, D. J., and J. L. DesGranges. 1993. Effects of the organophosphate azinphos-methyl on birds of potato fields and apple orchards in Quebec, Canada. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 43:183–199.
- De Grazio, J. W. 1978. World bird damage problems. Proceedings of the 8th Vertebrate Pest Conference:8–24.
- Greig, J., A. Rajic, I. Young, M. Mascarenhas, L. Waddell, and J. Lejeune. 2015. A scoping review of the role of wildlife in the transmission of bacterial pathogens and antimicrobial resistance to the food chain. ELEC, Berlin.
- Hall, L. S., P. R. Krausman, and M. L. Morrison. 1997. The habitat concept and a plea for standard terminology. Wildlife Society Bulletin 25:173–182.
- Hallmann, C. a, R. P. B. Foppen, C. a M. Van Turnhout, H. De Kroon, and E. Jongejans. 2014. Declines in insectivorous birds are associated with high neonicotinoid concentrations. Nature 511:341–343.
- Hamby, K. A., and F. G. Zalom. 2013. Relationship of almond kernel damage occurrence to navel orangeworm (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) success. Journal of Economic Entomology 106:1365–1372.
- Harris, L. J., and L. Ferguson. 2013. Improving the safety of almonds and pistachios. Page 350*in* L. J. Harris, editor.Improving the Safety and Quality of Nuts. JOUR, Elsevier.
- Harris, L., M. Palumbo, L. Beuchat, and M. Danyluk. 2016. Outbreaks of foodborne illness associated with the consumption of tree nuts, peanuts, and sesame seeds [Table and references]. Pages 1–70utbreaks from tree nuts, peanuts and sesame seeds.
- Hasey, J., and T. P. Salmon. 1993. Crow damage to almonds increasing; no foolproof solution in sight. California Agriculture 47:21–23.
- Higbee, B. S., and J. P. Siegel. 2009. New navel orangeworm sanitation standards could reduce almond damage. California Agriculture 63:24–28.
- Hoffman, D. J., and P. H. Albers. 1984. Evaluation of potential embryotoxicity and teratogenicity of 42 herbicides, insecticides, and petroleum contaminants to mallard eggs. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 13:15–27.

- Hoffman, D. J., and W. C. Eastin. 1981. Effects of malathion, diazinon, and parathion on mallard embryo development and cholinesterase activity. Environmental Research 26:472–485.
- Hooper, M. J., P. J. Detrich, C. P. Weisskopf, and B. W. Wilson. 1989. Organophosphorus insecticide exposure in hawks inhabiting orchards during winter dormant-spraying. ELEC.
- Huffaker, C. B., P. S. Messenger, and P. DeBach. 1971. The natural enemy component in natural control and the theory of biological control. Page Biological Control. Plenum Press, New York.
- Humple, D., and G. Geupel. 2002. Autumn populations of birds in riparian habitat of California's Central Valley. Western Birds 33:34–50.
- Ieronymidou, C. 2012. Avian Land-Use Associations in the Eastern Mediterranean. University of East Anglia.
- Ieronymidou, C., N. J. Collar, and P. M. Dolman. 2012. Endemic Cyprus Warbler Sylvia melanothorax and colonizing Sardinian Warbler Sylvia melanocephala show different habitat associations. Ibis 154:248–259.
- Ilic, S., A. Rajić, C. J. Britton, E. Grasso, W. Wilkins, S. Totton, B. Wilhelm, L. Waddell, and J. T. LeJeune. 2012. A scoping study characterizing prevalence, risk factor and intervention research, published between 1990 and 2010, for microbial hazards in leafy green vegetables. Food Control 23:7–19.
- Isaacs, S., J. Aramini, B. Ciebin, J. A. Farrar, R. Ahmed, D. Middleton, A. U. Chandran, L. J. Harris, M. Howes, E. Chan, A. S. Pichette, K. Campbell, A. Gupta, L. Y. Lior, M. Pearce, C. Clark, F. Rodgers, F. Jamieson, I. Brophy, and A. Ellis. 2005. An international outbreak of salmonellosis associated with raw almonds contaminated with a rare phage type of Salmonella Enteritidis. ELEC, Des Moines.
- Jacob, J., H. Yl Onen, J. A. Perry, and G. R. Singleton. 2002. Who eats first? Uptake of pellet bait by target and non-target species. International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation 49:121–124.
- Janecko, N., A. Cizek, D. Halova, R. Karpiskova, P. Myskova, and I. Literak. 2015. Prevalence, characterization and antibiotic resistance of Salmonella isolates in large corvid species of Europe and North America between 2010 and 2013. ELEC, Berlin.
- Jay-Russell, M. T. 2013. What is the risk from wild animals in food-borne pathogen contamination of plants? CAB Reviews 8:1–16.
- Johnson, M. D., T. W. Sherry, R. T. Holmes, and P. P. Marra. 2006. Assessing habitat quality for a migratory songbird wintering in natural and agricultural habitats. Conservation Biology 20:1433–44.

Karp, D. S., P. Baur, E. R. Atwill, K. De Master, S. Gennet, A. Iles, J. L. Nelson, A. R. Sciligo, and

C. Kremen. 2015a. The Unintended Ecological and Social Impacts of Food Safety Regulations in California's Central Coast Region. BioScience 65:1173–1183.

- Karp, D. S., S. Gennet, C. Kilonzo, M. Partyka, N. Chaumont, E. R. Atwill, and C. Kremen.
 2015b. Comanaging fresh produce for nature conservation and food safety.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112:11126–31.
- Keller, S. E. 2014. Tree fruits and nuts: outbreaks, contamination sources, prevention, and remediation. Pages 291–312*in* K. R. Matthews, G. Sapers, and C. Gerba, editors. The Produce Contamination Problem: Causes and Solutions. Second Edi. Elsevier.
- King, A. D., M. J. Miller, and L. C. Eldridge. 1970. Almond harvesting, processing, and microbial flora. Applied microbiology 20:208–214.
- Kirk, D. A., M. M. D. Evenden, and P. Mineau. 1996. Past and current attempts to evaluate the role of birds as predators of insect pests in temperate agriculture. Current Ornithology 13:175–264.
- Kirk, J. H., C. A. Holmberg, and J. S. Jeffrey. 2002. Prevalence of Salmonella spp in selected birds captured on California dairies. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 220:359–362.
- Kleijn, D., M. Rundlöf, J. Scheper, H. G. Smith, and T. Tscharntke. 2011. Does conservation on farmland contribute to halting the biodiversity decline? Trends in ecology & evolution 26:474–81.
- Klonsky, K. 2012. Economics of Almond Production 2011. Davis, California.
- Klonsky, K., F. Zalom, and B. Barnett. 1990. California's almond IPM program. California Agriculture:21–24.
- Koh, L. P., and T. A. Gardner. 2010. Conservation in human modified landscapes. Pages 236– 261*in* N. S. Sodhi and P. R. Ehrlich, editors.Conservation Biology for All. Oxford University Press.
- Köhler, H.-R., and R. Triebskorn. 2013. Wildlife ecotoxicology of pesticides: can we track effects to the population level and beyond? Science 341:759–765.
- Komar, O. 2006. Ecology and conservation of birds in coffee plantations: a critical review. Bird Conservation International 16:1.
- Kremen, C. 2015. Reframing the land-sparing/land-sharing debate for biodiversity conservation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1355:52–76.
- Kross, S. M., R. P. Bourbour, and B. L. Martinico. 2016a. Agricultural land use, barn owl diet, and vertebrate pest control implications. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 223:167–174.

- Kross, S. M., T. R. Kelsey, C. J. McColl, and J. M. Townsend. 2016b. Field-scale habitat complexity enhances avian conservation and avian-mediated pest-control services in an intensive agricultural crop. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 225:140–149.
- Kruse, H., A. M. Kirkemo, and K. Handeland. 2004. Wildlife as source of zoonotic infections. Emerging Infectious Diseases 10:2067–2072.
- Kuussaari, M., R. Bommarco, R. K. Heikkinen, A. Helm, J. Krauss, R. Lindborg, E. Öckinger, M. Pärtel, J. Pino, F. Rodà, C. Stefanescu, T. Teder, M. Zobel, and I. Steffan-Dewenter. 2009. Extinction debt: a challenge for biodiversity conservation. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 24:564–571.
- Lamberski, N., A. C. Hull, A. M. Fish, K. Beckmen, and T. Y. Morishita. 2003. A survey of the choanal and cloacal aerobic bacterial flora in free-living and captive red-tailed hawks (Buteo jamaicensis) and Cooper's hawks (Accipiter cooperii). ELEC, Boca Raton.
- Lambertini, E., M. D. Danyluk, D. W. Schaffner, C. K. Winter, and L. J. Harris. 2012. Risk of salmonellosis from consumption of almonds in the North American market. Food Research International 45:1166–1174.
- Langholz, J. A., and M. T. Jay-Russell. 2013. Potential role of wildlife in pathogenic contamination of fresh produce. Human-Wildlife Interactions 7:140–157.
- Latta, S. C., C. a Howell, M. D. Dettling, and R. L. Cormier. 2012. Use of data on avian demographics and site persistence during overwintering to assess quality of restored riparian habitat. Conservation Biology 26:482–92.
- Laursen, K., E. Holm, and I. Sørensen. 1997. Pollen as a marker in migratory warblers, Sylviidae. Ardea 85:223–231.
- Lee, L. E., D. Metz, M. Giovanni, and C. M. Bruhn. 2011. Consumer knowledge and handling of tree nuts: food safety implications. ELEC, Des Moines.
- Letourneau, D. K., J. A. Jedlicka, S. G. Bothwell, and C. R. Moreno. 2009. Effects of Natural Enemy Biodiversity on the Suppression of Arthropod Herbivores in Terrestrial Ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 40:573–592.
- Lowell, K., J. Langholz, and D. Stuart. 2010. Safe and Sustainable: Co-Managing for Food Safety and Ecological Health in California's Central Coast Region. Produce Safety Project.
- Luck, G. W. 2013. The net return from animal activity in agro-ecosystems: trading off benefits from ecosystem services against costs from crop damage. F1000Research 2:239.
- Luck, G. W., K. Hunt, and A. Carter. 2015. The species and functional diversity of birds in almond orchards, apple orchards, vineyards and eucalypt woodlots. Emu 115:99–109.

- Luck, G. W., P. G. Spooner, D. M. Watson, S. J. Watson, and M. E. Saunders. 2014. Interactions between almond plantations and native ecosystems: Lessons learned from north-western Victoria. Ecological Management & Restoration 15:4–15.
- Luck, G. W., S. Triplett, and P. G. Spooner. 2013. Bird use of almond plantations: implications for conservation and production. Wildlife Research 40:523–535.
- Macarthur, R. H., and J. W. Macarthur. 1961. On Bird Species Diversity. Ecology 42:594–598.
- MacLellan, C. 1959. Woodpeckers as predators of the codling moth in Nova Scotia. The Canadian Entomologist 91.
- Mäntylä, E., T. Klemola, and T. Laaksonen. 2011. Birds help plants: a meta-analysis of topdown trophic cascades caused by avian predators. Oecologia 165:143–51.
- Marsh, R. E., and T. P. Salmon. 1996. Vertebrate pest management. Pages 224–236*in* W. C. Micke, editor.Almond production manual. BOOK, UCANR Publications.
- Martinez, J. G., M. Soler, and J. J. Soler. 1996. The effect of Magpie breeding density and synchrony on brood parasitism by Great Spotted Cuckoos. The Condor 98:272–278.
- Miller, A. H., and C. E. Bock. 1972. Natural history of the Nuttall Woodpecker at the Hastings Reservation. Condor 74:284–294.
- Mineau, P. 2002. Estimating the probability of bird mortality from pesticide sprays on the basis of the field study record. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 21:1497–1506.
- Mineau, P., and M. Whiteside. 2006. Cholinesterase-inhibiting pesticides: Lethal risk to birds from insecticide use in the United States: a spatial and temporal analysis. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 25:1214–1222.
- Mineau, P., and M. Whiteside. 2013. Pesticide Acute Toxicity Is a Better Correlate of U.S. Grassland Bird Declines than Agricultural Intensification. PLoS ONE 8.
- Mols, C. M. M., and M. E. Visser. 2002. Great tits can reduce caterpillar damage in apple orchards. Journal of Applied Ecology 39:888–899.
- Monfreda, C., N. Ramankutty, and J. A. Foley. 2008. Farming the planet: 2. Geographic distribution of crop areas, yields, physiological types, and net primary production in the year 2000. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 22:1–19.
- Moran, S., and H. Keidar. 1993. Checklist of vertebrate damage to agriculture in Israel. Crop Protection 12:173–182.
- Morrison, M., D. Ralph, J. Verner, and J. Jehl Jr., editors. 1990. Avian foraging, theory, methodology, and applications. Studies in Avian Biology:515.
- Neve, L. De, J. J. Soler, M. Ruiz-Rodriguez, D. Martin-Galvez, T. Perez-Contreras, and M. Soler. 2007. Habitat-specific effects of a food supplementation experiment on

immunocompetence in Eurasian Magpie Pica pica nestlings. Ibis 149:763–773.

- Newton, I. 2004. The recent declines of farmland bird populations in Britain: An appraisal of causal factors and conservation actions. Ibis 146:579–600.
- Nice, C. S. 1994. The dissemination of human infectious disease by birds. ELEC.
- Palacín, C., J. C. Alonso, C. A. Martín, and J. A. Alonso. 2012. The importance of traditional farmland areas for steppe birds: A case study of migrant female Great Bustards Otis tarda in Spain. Ibis 154:85–95.
- Pan, Z., G. Bingol, M. T. Brandl, and T. H. McHugh. 2012. Review of Current Technologies for Reduction of Salmonella Populations on Almonds. Food and Bioprocess Technology 5:2046–2057.
- Pandolfino, E. R., M. P. Herzog, S. L. Hooper, and Z. Smith. 2011. Winter habitat associations of diurnal raptors in Californias Central Valley. Western Birds 42:62–84.
- Pao, S., B. E. Hagens, C. Kim, S. Wildeus, M. R. Ettinger, M. D. Wilson, B. D. Watts, N. C. Whitley, A. C. S. Porto-Fett, J. G. Schwarz, P. Kaseloo, S. Ren, W. Long, H. Li, and J. B. Luchansky. 2014. Prevalence and molecular analyses of campylobacter jejuni and salmonella spp. in co-grazing small ruminants and wild-living birds. Livestock Science 160:163–171.
- Peisley, R. K., M. E. Saunders, and G. W. Luck. 2015. A Systematic Review of the Benefits and Costs of Bird and Insect Activity in Agroecosystems. Springer Science Reviews 3:113– 125.
- Peisley, R. K., M. E. Saunders, and G. W. Luck. 2016. Cost-benefit trade-offs of bird activity in apple orchards. PeerJ 4:e2179.
- Perfecto, I., and J. Vandermeer. 2010. The agroecological matrix as alternative to the landsparing/agriculture intensification model. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107:5786–91.
- Phalan, B., M. Onial, A. Balmford, and R. E. Green. 2011. Reconciling Food Production and. Science 333:1289–1291.
- Pimentel, D., R. Zuniga, and D. Morrison. 2005. Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien-invasive species in the United States. Ecological Economics 52:273–288.
- Prosser, R. S., J. C. Anderson, M. L. Hanson, K. R. Solomon, and P. K. Sibley. 2016. Indirect effects of herbicides on biota in terrestrial edge-of-field habitats: A critical review of the literature. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 232:59–72.
- Pullium, H. R., and B. J. Danielson. 1991. Sources, sinks, and habitat selectoin: a landscape perspective on population dynamics. The American Naturalist 137:S50–S66.

- Quesada, J., and I. MacGregor-Fors. 2010. Avian community responses to the establishment of small garden allotments within a Mediterranean habitat mosaic. Animal Biodiversity and Conservation 33:53–61.
- Reed, K. D., J. K. Meece, J. S. Henkel, and S. K. Shukla. 2003. Birds, Migration and Emerging Zoonoses: West Nile Virus, Lyme Disease, Influenza A and Enteropathogens. Clinical Medicine and Research 1:5–12.
- Rodenhouse, N. L., L. B. Best, J. O'Connor, Raymond, and E. K. Bollinger. 1992. Effects of temperate agriculture on Neotropical migrant landbirds. Pages 280–295*in* D. Finch and P. Stangel, editors.Status and Management of Neotropical Migratory Birds. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RM-229.
- Sala, O. E., F. S. Chapin, J. J. Armesto, E. Berlow, J. Bloomfield, R. Dirzo, E. Huber-Sanwald, L. F. Huenneke, R. B. Jackson, A. Kinzig, R. Leemans, D. M. Lodge, H. A. Mooney, M. Oesterheld, N. L. Poff, M. T. Sykes, B. H. Walker, M. Walker, D. H. Wall, S. Chapin III, J. J. Armesto, E. Berlow, J. Bloomfield, R. Dirzo, E. Huber-Sanwald, L. F. Huenneke, R. B. Jackson, A. Kinzig, R. Leemans, D. M. Lodge, H. A. Mooney, M. Oesterheld, N. L. Poff, M. T. Sykes, B. H. Walker, and D. H. Wall. 2000. Global Biodiversity Scenarios for the Year 2100. Science 287:1770–1774.
- Santillana Farakos, S. M., R. Pouillot, N. Anderson, R. Johnson, I. Son, and J. Van Doren. 2016. Modeling the survival kinetics of Salmonella in tree nuts for use in risk assessment. International Journal of Food Microbiology 227:41–50.
- Saunders, M. E., and G. W. Luck. 2016. Combining Costs and Benefits of Animal Activities to Assess Net Yield Outcomes in Apple Orchards. PloS one:1–16.
- Schäckermann, J., Y. Mandelik, N. Weiss, H. von Wehrden, and A.-M. Klein. 2015a. Natural habitat does not mediate vertebrate seed predation as an ecosystem dis-service to agriculture. Journal of Applied Ecology 52:291–299.
- Schäckermann, J., G. Pufal, Y. Mandelik, and A.-M. M. Klein. 2015b. Agro-ecosystem services and dis-services in almond orchards are differentially influenced by the surrounding landscape. Ecological Entomology 40:12–21.
- Schartel, T. E., and E. M. Schauber. 2016. Relative preference and localized food affect predator space use and consumption of incidental prey. PloS one 11:e0151483.
- Sekercioğlu, C. H., S. R. Loarie, F. Oviedo Brenes, P. R. Ehrlich, and G. C. Daily. 2007. Persistence of forest birds in the Costa Rican agricultural countryside. Conservation Biology 21:482–94.
- Shuford, W. D., and T. Gardali. 2008. California Bird Species of Special Concern: a ranked assessment of species, subspecies, and distinct populations of birds of immediate conservation concern in California. Studies of Western Birds 1.

da Silva, L. P., J. A. Ramos, J. M. Olesen, A. Traveset, and R. H. Heleno. 2014. Flower visitation

by birds in Europe. Oikos 123:1377–1383.

- Singleton, G. R., P. R. Brown, J. Jacob, and K. P. Aplin. 2007. Unwanted and unintended effects of culling: A case for ecologically-based rodent management. Integrative Zoology 2:247–259.
- Soler, M. 1990. Relationship between the Great Spotted Cuckoo Clamator glandarius and its corvid hosts. Oikos 21:212–223.
- Soler, M., J. J. Palomino, and J. G. Martinez. 1995. Communal parental care by monogamous magpie hosts of fledgling Great Spotted Cuckoos. The Condor 97:804–810.
- Solomon, M., D. Glen, D. Kendall, and N. Milsom. 1976. Predation of overwintering larvae of codling moth (Cydia pomonella (L.)) by birds. Journal of Applied Ecology 13:341–352.
- Stairs, G. 1985. Predation on overwintering codling moth populations by birds. Ornis Scandinavica 16:323–324.
- Sterner, R. T. 2008. The IPM paradigm: vertebrates, economics, and uncertainty. Pages 194–2000Proceedings of the 23rd Vertebrate Pest Conference. San Diego, CA.
- Strand, L. L., and B. L. P. Ohlendorf. 2002. Integrated pest management in almonds. Page (M. L. Flint, Ed.). 2nd edition. ELEC, University of California Statewide IPM Project, Davis, California.
- Strum, K. M., M. E. Reiter, C. A. Hartman, M. N. Iglecia, T. R. Kelsey, and C. M. Hickey. 2013. Winter management of California's rice fields to maximize waterbird habitat and minimize water use. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 179:116–124.
- Sulzner, K., T. Kelly, W. Smith, and C. K. Johnson. 2014. Enteric pathogens and antimicrobial resistance in turkey vultures (Cathartes aura) feeding at the wildlife-livestock interface. ELEC, Pomona.
- Swolgaard, C., K. Reeves, and D. Bell. 2008. Foraging by Swainson's hawks in a vineyarddominated landscape. Journal of Raptor Research 42:188–196.
- Taylor, R. L., B. D. Maxwell, and R. J. Boik. 2006. Indirect effects of herbicides on bird food resources and beneficial arthropods. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 116:157–164.
- Tedders, W. L., S. Fruit, and T. Nut. 1983. Insect Management in Deciduous Orchard Ecosystems : Habitat Manipulation 7:29–34.
- Tilman, D., C. Balzer, J. Hill, and B. L. Befort. 2011. Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. 108:20260.
- Tizard, I. 2004. Salmonellosis in wild birds. ELEC.
- Tracey, J., M. Bomford, Q. Hart, G. Saunders, and R. Sinclair. 2007. Managing bird damage to fruit and other horticultural crops. Page Australian Government Bureau of Rural

Science.

- Treves, A., and L. Naughton-Treves. 2005. Evaluating lethal control in the management of human^I-wildlife conflict. Pages 86–106*in* R. Woodroffe, S. Thirgood, and A. Rabinowitz, editors.People and Wildlife: Conflict or Coexistence? Cambridge University Press.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2013. General Provisions; Revised List of Migratory Birds. Pages 65844–65863Federal Register.
- UC IPM Project. 2001. IPM in practice: principles and methods of integrated pest management. Page (M. L. Flint, Ed.). Publicatio. University of California Agriculture and Natural Resources.
- UC Statewide IPM Program. 2016. Pest management guidelines: almond. University of California Integrated Pest Management Guidelines:116.
- Uesugi, A. R., M. D. Danyluk, R. E. Mandrell, and L. J. Harris. 2007. Isolation of Salmonella Enteritidis phage type 30 from a single almond orchard over a 5-year period. ELEC, Des Moines.
- Uesugi, A. R., and L. J. Harris. 2006. Growth of Salmonella Enteritidis phage type 30 in almond hull and shell slurries and survival in drying almond hulls. Journal of food protection 69:712–718.
- Vickery, J. a, R. B. Bradbury, I. G. Henderson, M. a Eaton, and P. V Grice. 2004. The role of agri-environment schemes and farm management practices in reversing the decline of farmland birds in England. Biological Conservation 119:19–39.
- Vyas, N. B., J. W. Spann, C. S. Hulse, S. Gentry, and S. L. Borges. 2007. Dermal Insecticide Residues from Birds Inhabiting an Orchard. ELEC.
- Warner, R. E., and R. E. Warner. 1994. Agricultural Land Use and Grassland Habitat in Illinois: Future Shock for Midwestern Birds? Conservation Biology 8:147–156.
- Wells, M. L. 2013. Agricultural practices to reduce microbial contamination of nuts. Page (L. J. Harris, Ed.) Improving the Safety and Quality of Nuts. Woodhead Publishing Limited.
- Wenny, D. G., T. L. DeVault, M. D. Johnson, D. Kelly, C. H. Sekercioğlu, D. F. Tomback, and C. J. Whelan. 2011. The need to quantify ecosystem services provided by birds. The Auk 128:1–14.
- Whelan, C. J., Ç. H. Şekercioğlu, and D. G. Wenny. 2015. Why birds matter: from economic ornithology to ecosystem services. Journal of Ornithology 156:227–238.
- Whelan, C. J., D. G. Wenny, and R. J. Marquis. 2008. Ecosystem services provided by birds. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1134:25–60.
- White, D. H., and J. T. Seginak. 1990. Brain Cholinesterase Inhibition in Songbirds from

Pecan Groves Sprayed with Phosalone and Disulfoton. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 26:103–106.

- White, J. D., T. Gardali, F. R. Thompson, and J. Faaborg. 2005. Resource Selection By Juvenile Swainson's Thrushes During the Postfledging Period. The Condor 107:388.
- Williams, M. L., D. L. Pearl, and J. T. LeJeune. 2011. Multiple-locus variable-nucleotide tandem repeat subtype analysis implicates European starlings as biological vectors for Escherichia coli 0157:H7 in Ohio, USA. ELEC, Oxford.
- Wilson, B. W., M. J. Hooper, E. E. Littrell, P. J. Detrich, M. E. Hansen, C. P. Weisskopf, and J. N. Seiber. 1991. Orchard dormant sprays and exposure of red-tailed hawks to organophosphates. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 47:717– 724.
- Wunderle Jr, J. M., and S. C. Latta. 2000. Winter site fidelity of Nearctic migrants in shade coffee plantations of different sizes in the Dominican Republic. The Auk 117:596–614.
- Yazbek, M., and S. H. Oh. 2013. Peaches and almonds: Phylogeny of Prunus subg. Amygdalus (Rosaceae) based on DNA sequences and morphology. Plant Systematics and Evolution 299:1403–1418.
- Yeo, P. F. 1972. Miscellaneous notes on pollination and pollinators. Journal of Natural History 6:667–686.
- Zhan, Y., and M. Zhang. 2014a. Supplement to Zhan and Zhang 2014. Science of the Total Environment 472:517–529.
- Zhan, Y., and M. Zhang. 2014b. Spatial and temporal patterns of pesticide use on California almonds and associated risks to the surrounding environment. Science of the Total Environment 472:517–529.

Appendix I. Glossary of italicized terms in text.

- biotic exchange introductions of new organisms to ecosystems
- co-management a management approach in which stakeholders of diverse interests negotiate, define, and manage a common resource (i.e., in agriculture, stakeholders seek to support efficient and economical food production while simultaneously conserving soil, water, air, wildlife, and other natural resources).

ecological trap - a low quality habitat that organisms prefer over higher quality habitat fitness - an organisms ability to survive and reproduce in a particular environment frugivores - fruit eaters

- functional response predator increases its rate of consumption when exposed to higher prey densities
- functional traits traits that define species in terms of their ecological roles (e.g. fruit eaters, cavity nesters)

granivores - nut, seed, and grain eaters

- habitat selection an organisms behavioral responses that may result in an organism using certain types of habitat disproportionately to their occurrence in the environment resulting and the subsequent effects on survival or reproduction insectivores - consumers of insects, spiders, and allies
- landbirds an informal name for a large group of birds that occupy terrestrial habitats throughout the year (e.g., songbirds, raptors, woodpeckers)
- land sparing high yielding agriculture on a small footprint while devoting more land to reserve areas
- land sharing low-yielding, wildlife-friendly agriculture on a larger land footprint
- local extinction also called extirpation, when a species no is extinct from a chosen area of study (i.e., not an extinction of the entire species)
- natural enemies beneficial organisms that serve as biocontrol agents in agricultural systems, often refers to native wild species
- nectarivores nectar eaters
- novel ecosystems when species occur in combinations and relative abundances that have not occurred previously within a given biome (also called emerging ecosystems) numeric response - predators become more abundant as prey density increases
- omnivores organisms that eat multiple food types
- species diversity there are different quantitative measures of species diversity, but generally it is a combination of two components, species richness (see definition) and species evenness (a measure of the variation in the abundance in individuals per species)
- species richness the number of different species

Appendix II. Scientific names for species in tables with only common names provided due to space limitations.

Mallard quail Wild Turkey Turkey Vulture **Cattle Egret** Cooper's Hawk **Mourning Dove Red-breasterd Sapsucker** Nuttall's Woodpeckers Downy Wooddpecker Galah Long-billed Corella Little Corella Sulphur-crested Cockatoo **Burrowing Parrot Red-rumped** Parrot **Blue Bonnet** Mulga Parrot Yellow Rosella Eastern Rosella Australian Ringneck Blue Jay Yellow-billed Magpie Little Raven Australian Raven Great Tit Cetti's Warbler Eurasian Blackcap White Wagtail Yellow-rumped Warbler Song Sparrow White-crowned Sparrow Dark-eyed Junco Savannah Sparrow **Chipping Sparrow**

Anas platvrhynchos **Odontophoridae** Meleagris gallopavo Cathartes aura Bubulcus ibis Accipiter cooperii Zenaida macroura Sphyrapicus ruber Picoides nuttallii Picoides pubescens Eolophus roseicapilla Cacatua tenuirostris Cacatua sanguinea Cacatua galerita *Cyanoliseus patagonus* Psephotus haematonotus Northiella Psephotellus varius Platycercus elegans flaveolus Platycercus eximius Barnardius zonarius Cyanocitta cristata Pica nuttallii Corvus mellori Corvus coronoides Parus major Cettia cetti Svlvia atricapilla Motacilla alba Setophaga coronata Melospiza melodia Zonotrichia leucophrys Junco hymalis Passerculus sandwichensis Spizella passerina